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Report of the Board of Managers 
 

The managers present their report and the consolidated financial statements of the TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. 
(hereafter the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2012. 

Principal activity 

TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. is a Société à responsabilité limitée incorporated in Luxembourg on 23 July 2010. 

The purpose of the Company is the acquisition, holding and disposal of interests in Luxembourg and/or in foreign 
companies and undertakings, as well as the administration, development and management of such interests. 

The Company commenced trading with the acquisition of TeamSystem Srl and its subsidiaries on 30 September 2010 
(“TeamSystem Group”). TeamSystem Group is a leader in Italy in the production and marketing of management / ERP 
software and in the provision of training aimed at micro - small and medium enterprises, at professionals (accountants, 
labour consultants, lawyers, condominium managers and self-employed professionals) and at associations. TeamSystem 
Group has operated for more than 30 years in the field of management software for consultants and businesses. 

Affiliated undertaking  

The Company is a 53% directly held subsidiary of the private equity firm HG Capital and is approximately 23% held by 
the private investment firm Bain Capital, with the remainder held by TeamSystem Italy's senior and middle managers 
and by a number of financial investors.  

Share Capital 

As at 31 December 2012, the Company has issued share capital of Euro 3,667,186, divided into 3,667,186 fully paid up 
shares with a nominal value of Euro 1 each. 

Significant events that took place during the financial year 

Development projects and M&A activity 

Project BluePrint  

In 2012, work continued on a number of important extraordinary initiatives to strengthen the TeamSystem Group's 
organic growth, as part of a single structured and coordinated project with the assistance of leading firms of 
international consultants (Project BluePrint). These initiatives are with respect to both commercial and technical areas 
and have the dual aim of improving the commercial performance and quality of the Group and of increasing the 
efficiency of business processes. 

The main growth initiatives started during the course of 2011 and 2012 and still in progress at the end of the 2012 
financial year are summarised below: 

- improvement in the mode of application of price lists and management of discounts, by means of ad hoc support 
for the commercial network; 

- strengthening of cross-selling to customers, through the structuring of the related process with specific activities 
and support tools and the launch of campaigns targeted at the current customer base; 

- definition and launch of a programme of targeted support for the network of indirect dealers, as well as a 
dedicated programme of incentives; 

- reorganisation of customer assistance activities provided by the TeamSystem Group's branches, with the 
centralisation of some services at hub level (grouping of branches geographically close to each other); 

- introduction of the new TeamSystem brand with the simultaneous rationalisation of existing brands at 
TeamSystem Group level.  
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Work is still in progress, given its long term nature, on the strategic project for an overhaul of the product range, aimed 
at the adoption of SaaS technology across the entire product offering, the adoption of a user interface that maximizes 
usability and ease of use and the simultaneous optimisation of performance and functional coverage. During the 2012 
financial year, despite the negative macroeconomic context, considerable investments were made both in terms of new 
hires and external collaboration, as foreseen by the specific business plan. Already between the end of the 2012 
financial year and the initial months of the 2013 financial year, new products were brought to market, significantly 
enhancing the product range (One Click Analysis, Tablet & Mobile line, Registered post with a click, Master Data 
Update). 

The initiatives described above, together with others still in their start-up phase, form part of the development plan 
adopted by TeamSystem Group that will contribute both to an improvement in the group's performance in the short to 
medium term and in laying the foundation for long term growth, leading to structural improvements in business 
processes and the strengthening in a substantial manner of the quality of the offering to customers. 

Development of the Education Business Unit by means of the acquisition of Paradigma and the subsequent contribution 
to the newco Education Team Srl. 

In January 2012 the agreement was finalised for the acquisition by TeamSystem Srl of 100% of the quotas of  
Paradigma Srl. 

Paradigma, a company set up in Turin in 1991, is an Italian boutique specialised in professional training services aimed 
at management in large Italian and international businesses and completes the product range of TeamSystem Group, 
which can thus preside over the market for training in the following segments: SMEs, professionals, large practices, 
multinational businesses and public administration. 

In June 2012, as part of the development plan aimed at expanding its leadership in the training sector, where it has 
operated for a number of years through Gruppo Euroconference, TeamSystem set up a newco into which 100% of 
Paradigma S.r.l. (fully held by TeamSystem) and 100% of Optime S.r.l. (held by two active owners) were transferred. 

The latter, set up in Turin in 2008 after a spin-off of Paradigma, also develops and organises high level training events 
on legal and economic-financial topics for large businesses and professional practices. 

By means of this transaction, TeamSystem Group's Education division has been enhanced, on one hand, by two further 
brands already established in the sector and, on the other, by a managerial team that is extremely valid and dynamic and 
with which it will be possible to set off together on an ambitious plan for business growth. 

Acquisition of Digita 

In February 2012 the agreement was finalised for the acquisition by TeamSystem Srl of 60% of the quotas of Digita Srl, 
stipulating, at the same time with the minority quotaholders, a quotaholder agreement that provides for the possibility to 
exercise a put and call option on the residual 40% stake within predetermined future periods. 

Digita S.r.l, an Italian company located in Asolo (Treviso), has developed Tustena CRM software, which is based on a 
platform designed natively with cloud logic and which is capable of satisfying all marketing and customer management 
needs, as well as permitting scalability and ample possibilities for personalisation.  

Acquisition of H-Umus 

In October 2012 the agreement was finalised for the acquisition by TeamSystem Srl of 85% of the quotas of H-Umus 
Srl, stipulating, at the same time with the minority quotaholders, a quotaholder agreement that provides for the 
possibility to exercise put and call options on the residual 15% stake within predetermined future periods. TeamSystem 
acquired the majority holding in H-Umus from H-Farm, the venture incubator known at international level for its 
innovative projects concerning the web and digital and new media. H-Umus, formed as a start-up in 2007, in a short 
period of time became an example of solid innovation thanks to the development of Nuxie, a marketing and sales 
platform - based on iOS (Apple) technology - to support commercial networks. H-Umus's current customer portfolio 
includes numerous leading brands such as Armani, Diesel, Benetton, Safilo, Nike, Pomellato and Piquadro.   
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With this transaction, the TeamSystem Group is counting on starting off on a new path for growth for H-Umus, 
providing new growth opportunities for it and greater value enhancement of the platform thanks to expansion into new 
markets and integration with the TeamSystem Group's management software. The 2012 consolidated income statement 
does not benefit from the results of this subsidiary, since only the balance sheet at 31 December 2012 has been 
consolidated, as the acquisition took place close to the financial year end. 

Simplification of TeamSystemGroup structure and expiry of put and call option agreements with minority 
quotaholders 

During the 2012 financial year, various transactions were completed, involving TeamSystem Group companies, in order 
to simplify the actual operating structure and the composition of the current minority holding structure of subsidiaries, 
as detailed in the notes to these consolidated financial statements. 

Unfair competition against Gruppo Euroconference concerning the “Master Breve” product 

In July 2012, some of the employees and directors of Euroconference left the company accompanied by the members of 
the scientific committee and they set up Didactica Professionisti S.p.A., a company that immediately started operating 
in direct competition with Euroconference with respect to its main product, the “Master Breve”. The foreknowledge and 
suddenness of this exit, which, in fact, amounted to the loss of an entire business sector just prior to the launch of the 
new edition of the Master, led to a heavy setback, both with regard to 2012 financial year and 2013 first months’ results 
and to the organisation, which had to respond to this critical challenge by transferring staff and directors from other 
sectors, particularly those involved in the specialist training, which obviously were severely affected in terms of 
earnings. 

The Group saw itself forced to initiate legal proceedings to protect its rights. 

With a precautionary injunction dated 9 January 2013, the Turin Court, believing that Didactica was responsible for acts 
of unfair competition against Euroconference, for having taken "unlawful competitive advantage" of "the unlawful 
conduct of a collaborator (Ed.: the then current chairman of Didactica) when he was still tied to the company" 
Euroconference, inhibited Didactica from "continuing to advertise, market and sell to its customers future individual 
study meetings envisaged as part of the course 'Didactica Master Breve', assumed to be a so-called unpacked sale", 
considering that this conduct would constitute "a further aggravation of the damages already inflicted" with the 
organisation and marketing of the "Master Breve".  

The injunction is immediately enforceable and both Gruppo Euroconference and TeamSystem S.r.l. will exercise 
maximum oversight of compliance therewith by Didactica Professionisti and will also take steps to seek, in respect of 
the latter and the other parties involved in the precautionary injunction, a verdict to obtain, among others, full 
compensation for damages deriving from the unlawful conduct of the counterparty in the organisation of the "Didactica 
Master Breve" and other training initiatives. 

Cover of losses incurred by the subsidiary TeamSystem Service 

In April 2012, on the occasion of the approval of the 2011 financial statements of TeamSystem Service, the quota 
capital was reduced to zero, the further losses incurred in the 2011 financial year were covered and the quota capital 
was increased again to its previous level, by means of the pay in by the sole owner TeamSystem of Euro 205 thousand.  

Financial Position and Funding  

As at 31 December 2012, the consolidated statement of financial position shows net current liability of  
Euro 368 thousand and total liabilities of Euro 840,816 thousand.  
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Results and Dividends 

Revenue for the period was Euro 150,769 thousand (Euro 141,513 thousand in 2011), Operating loss of  
Euro 51,289 thousand (operating profit of Euro 22,435 thousand in 2011), after depreciation and amortisation of  
Euro 25,130 thousand and the goodwill impairment of Euro 75,000 thousand; the loss for the year was  
Euro 135,983 thousand. No dividend was paid during the year.  

The Group Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, Impairment and Doubtful receivables allowances 
and other provisions (Gross Operating Margin) was Euro 50,747 thousand (Euro 49,089 thousand in 2011). 

Future prospects for the business 

In the initial months of 2013 (despite an unfavourable macroeconomic context), there has been a significant increase in 
consolidated turnover, above all, due to significant growth in sales of maintenance and support contracts, that represent 
continuous revenue with particularly high margins. 

More in detail, the trend in the first 2 months of the year shows a good performance by the Software and Services 
segment, also thanks to the introduction of a new software module for the management of IRES refunds for the years 
2007-2011, whereas the CAD/CAM segments are more prone to the ongoing economic crisis. 
 

The Group is undergoing a process of refinancing in order to have, on one hand, greater financial flexibility and, on the 
other, to be in a better position to support medium-long term development projects. 

During the year, the Group will continue, on one hand, to pursue its strategy of organic growth, concentrating its efforts 
and focusing on activities aimed at increasing its market share and, on the other hand, to strengthen its position as 
market leader by means of the acquisition of other players in the sector. 

The outlook is thus for positive results, with a growth rate which will also depend, however, on the state of the 
economy. 

Approval of Accounts 

The Report of the Board of Managers, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Income Statement 
and Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity, and Notes to the consolidated financial statements are approved by the Board of Managers on 15 April 2013. 
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TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 

 
In Euro thousand 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  

ASSETS 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 NOTES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9,850 9,684 1 
Intangible assets 266,126 283,990 2 
Goodwill 289,317 353,652 3 
Equity investments 320 336 4 
Deferred tax assets 1,414 8,049 5 
Other financial assets 123 627 10 
Total non-current assets 567,150 656,338 

Current assets
Inventories 1,334 1,552 6 
Trade receivables 46,466 46,885 7 
Tax receivables 2,999 2,059 8 
Other receivables 6,718 6,119 9 
Financing fees - Prepayments 806 1,983 10 
Other financial assets 43 415 10 
Cash and bank balances 20,058 15,587 10 
Total current assets 78,425 74,600 

TOTAL  ASSETS 645,575 730,938 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 NOTES

Capital and reserves
Share capital 3,667 3,667 12 
Retained earnings and other reserves  (64,753)  (19,759) 12 
Loss for the year - Owners of the Company  (135,983)  (43,958) 12 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  (197,069)  (60,049)

Non-controlling interests
Capital and reserves 1,367 1,428 12 
Profit for the year - non-controll ing interests 461 365 12 
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 1,828 1,793 

TOTAL EQUITY  (195,241)  (58,256)

Non-current liabilities
Debt owed to shareholders 400,399 356,949 11 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 260,309 249,434 10 
Other financial l iabil ities 11,610 18,376 10 
Employee termination indemnities 8,915 7,008 13 
Provisions for risks and charges 1,856 1,926 14 
Deferred tax l iabil ities 77,985 83,093 5 
Other non-current l iabil ites 949 1,012 15 
Total non-current liabilities 762,023 717,797 

Current liabilities
Debt owed to shareholders 12,412 10,963 11 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 16,386 15,856 10 
Other financial l iabil ities 6,663 1,426 10 
Trade payables 16,196 16,273 
Tax l iabil ities 4,684 5,822 16 
Other l iabil ities 22,452 21,057 17 
Total current liabilities 78,793 71,396 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 840,816 789,194 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 645,575 730,938 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 NOTES

Revenue 150,769 141,513 18
Other operating income 1,577 1,040 19
Total revenue 152,346 142,553 

Consumption of raw and other materials  (18,334)  (18,883) 20
Cost of services  (28,767)  (25,586) 21
Personnel  (47,773)  (43,436) 22
Other operating expenses  (2,948)  (2,412) 23
Non-recurring  expenses  (3,777)  (3,146) 24
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  (25,130)  (24,903) 1 / 2
Allowance for doubtful receivables and other risk provisions  (1,905)  (1,750) 25
Impairment of non-current assets  (75,000) 0 26

Operating result  (51,289) 22,435 

Finance income 2,713 3,899 27
Finance cost  (76,788)  (72,805) 28

Loss before income taxes  (125,364)  (46,470)

Income taxes
 - current taxes  (8,208)  (9,471) 29
 - deferred taxes  (1,950) 12,349 5
Total income taxes  (10,158) 2,878 

Loss for the year  (135,522)  (43,592)

Minus: profit attributable to non-controlling interests  (461)  (365)

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company  (135,983)  (43,958)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  

CONSOLIDATED  INCOME STATEMENT  AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 NOTES

Loss for the year  (135,522)  (43,592)

Early adoption of IAS 19 revised in 2011  (1,405) 13

Income tax 386 5 /13

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax  (1,018) 0 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (136,541)  (43,592)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company  (136,958)  (43,958)
Non-controll ing interests 418 365 

 (136,541)  (43,592)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Operating result  (51,289) 22,435 

Adjustments for
Capitalised development expenses  (4,267)  (2,294)
Depreciation, amortisation 25,130 24,903 
Impairment of non-current assets 75,000 
Allowance for doubtful receivables 1,742 1,486 
Other recognised provisions 163 264 
Adjustments to Operating result - Total 97,769 24,360 

Movements in working capital
Trade receivables  (492)  (8,998)
Inventories 218 5 
Other receivables  (490)  (294)
Trade payables  (859)  (159)
Change in Employee termination indemnities 1,729 318 
Change in Provision for risks and charges  (449)  (524)
Other l iabil ities 653 1,650 
Movements in working capital - Total 310  (8,002)

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 46,790 38,793 

Property, plant and equipment  (1,025)  (633)
Intangible assets  (1,989)  (325)
Other financial assets  (123)
Price paid for acquisition of new subsidiaries  (12,683)  (13,074)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (15,820)  (14,032)

Net finance cost  (21,908)  (21,686)
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions net of 
financing fees 5,124  (729)
Proceeds from other loans - PEC 396 
Other financial l iabil ities  (1,529) 7,103 
Other financial assets 998 648 
Proceed from issue of share capital of the Company 458 
Changes in equity attributable to the owners of the Company  (1,037)  (2,742)
Changes in equity attributable to non-controll ing interests 286  (1,326)
Dividends paid to non-controll ing interests  (712)  (739)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (18,778)  (18,617)

Tax receivables/payables and current and deferred taxes  (10,921)  (10,545)
CASH FLOWS FROM TAXES  (10,921)  (10,545)

Cash and bank balances from consolidation of new subsidiaries 3,202 1,616 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BANK BALANCES 4,471  (2,786)

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 15,587 18,373 

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AT THE END OF THE YEAR 20,058 15,587 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Year ended 31 December 2011 

 
 
 
 
Year ended 31 December 2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 On behalf of the Board of Managers 

 of TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. 

Luxembourg, 15 April 2013 Managing Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Share capital Other income 
(expenses) net  of 

the tax effect

Loss brought 
forward and other 
retained earnings

Loss for the year Attributable to 
the owners of 
the Company

Non-controlling 
interests - Capital 

and reserves

Non-controlling 
interests - Profit 

(Loss) for the 
year

Non controlling 
interest

Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2011 3,209 0 (16,843) (13,634) 3,142 322 3,463 (10,170)

Transaction with owners:

Issue of shares 458 458 0 458 

Appropriation of prior year Profit (Loss) (16,843) 16,843 0 322 (322) 0 0 

Dividends payment to non-controll ing interests 0 (739) (739) (739)

Other movements (204) (204) 204 204 0 
Transactions with non-controll ing interests (2,712) (2,712) (1,500) (1,500) (4,213)

Total transaction with owners 458 (19,759) 16,843 (2,458) (1,714) (322) (2,035) (4,493)

Comprehensive Profit (Loss):
Profit (Loss) for the year (43,958) (43,958) 365 365 (43,592)
Other comprehensive Profit  (Loss) 0 0 0 0 0 

Total comprehensive Profit (Loss) 0 0 (43,958) (43,958) 0 365 365 (43,592)

Balance at 31 December 2011 3,667 (19,759) (43,958) (60,049) 1,428 365 1,793 (58,256)

Share capital Other income 
(expenses) net  of 

the tax effect

Loss brought 
forward and other 
retained earnings

Loss for the year Attributable to 
the owners of 
the Company

Non-controlling 
interests - Capital 

and reserves

Non-controlling 
interests - Profit 

(Loss) for the 
year

Non controlling 
interest

Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2012 3,667 (19,759) (43,958) (60,049) 1,428 365 1,793 (58,256)

Transaction with owners:

Appropriation of prior year Profit (Loss) (43,958) 43,958 0 365 (365) 0 0 

Dividends payment to non-controll ing interests 0 (125) (125) (125)

Other movements 0 5 5 5 

Transactions with non-controll ing interests (see 
note 12) (62) (62) (263) (263) (325)

Total transaction with owners 0 (44,020) 43,958 (62) (18) (365) (383) (445)

Comprehensive Profit (Loss):

Profit (Loss) for the year (135,983) (135,983) 461 461 (135,522)

Other comprehensive Profit  (Loss) (975) (975) (43) (43) (1,019)

Total comprehensive Profit (Loss) 0 (975) (135,983) (136,958) (43) 461 418 (136,541)

Balance at 31 December 2012 3,667 (975) (135,983) (197,069) 1,367 461 1,828 (195,241)
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TeamSystem Holdco Group 

 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 
 
 

Corporate information 

TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. (here after “the Company” or “the Parent Company”) is a Société à responsabilité 
limitée incorporated in Luxembourg on 23 July 2010.  

The purpose of the Company is the acquisition, holding and disposal of interests in Luxembourg and/or in foreign 
companies and undertakings, as well as the administration, development and management of such interests. The 
Company may provide loans and financing in any other kind or form or grant guarantees or security in any other 
kind or form, in favour of the companies and undertakings forming part of the group of which the Company is a 
member. The Company may also invest in real estate, in intellectual property rights or any other movable or 
immovable assets in any kind or form. The Company may borrow in any kind or form and privately issue bonds, 
notes or any other debt instruments as well as warrants or other share subscription rights. In a general fashion, the 
Company may carry out any commercial, industrial or financial operation, which it may deem useful in the 
accomplishment and development of its purposes. 

As at 31 December 2012 it holds the TeamSystem Group, acquired in 2010, which is a leader in Italy in the 
production and marketing of management / ERP software and in the provision of training aimed at micro - small 
and medium enterprises, at professionals (accountants, labour consultants, lawyers, condominium managers and 
self-employed professionals) and at associations. TeamSystem has operated for more than 30 years in the field of 
management software for consultants and businesses. 

The Company is a 53% directly held subsidiary of the private equity firm HG Capital and is approximately 23% 
held by the private investment firm Bain Capital, with the remainder held by TeamSystem Group's senior and 
middle managers and by a number of financial investors. It should be noted that the aforementioned equity 
investments have the same characteristics in terms of subscription price and risk and there are no differences 
favouring Teamsystem Group's senior and middle management. 

The Company prepares consolidated financial statement and a consolidated management report which are subject 
to publication as required by the law. These consolidated financial statement are available at the registered office. 

The consolidated financial statements of TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. (here after “TeamSystem Holdco Group” or 
“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorized for issue by the Board of Managers on 
15 April 2013. 

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). 

IFRS is intended to mean all “International Financial Reporting Standards”, all International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) and all the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”), previously known as Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”) endorsed by the European 
Commission at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements by the Parent Company's Board of 
Managers and covered by EU Regulations published at that date. 
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments that have been measured at fair value, as well as on a going concern basis. 
The accounting policies applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are unchanged with 
respect to those applied in the prior year, except for the early application of the new accounting standard IAS 19 
revised. 

 
GOING CONCERN BASIS 

 
The economic environment, which is characterised by widespread uncertainty, inevitably impacts the ability of 
TeamSystem Group to maintain business growth rates in line with those achieved historically. 

In order to prudently take account of the international and Italian economic environment, in a context whereby 
there may be no continuity with the past and in which forecasts are characterised by elements of considerable 
uncertainty, on 29 March 2013 TeamSystem Group approved a new Business Plan that shows growth rates for 
revenues and operating profit, which are conservative in comparison to historical trends achieved by TeamSystem 
Group, as well as confirming the commitment of TeamSystem Group to continue, on one hand, on a path of 
business development and, on the other, with a gradual reduction of financial indebtedness. 
 
With reference to the Business Plan, TeamSystem Group performed an impairment test to verify the recoverability 
of the non-current assets and the outcome showed a write-down of Euro 75 million, fully adjusted against 
goodwill and without cash impact. 
 
In assessing the appropriateness of the going concern assumption for the preparation of the TeamSystem Holdco 
Group consolidated financial statements, the Managers also took into account the following: 

 
- the debt to shareholders of nominal Euro 318,095 thousand matures in 2040 and it is subordinated to all 

other liabilities of the Group. In addition the Company may elect to postpone the payment of the 
accrued interests up to maturity date if no sufficient funds are available; 

- the mezzanine debt of nominal Euro 56,250 thousand matures in 2019 and accrued interest exceeding a 
certain interest rate can be capitalized up to maturity by giving written notice; 

- the PIK preference debt of nominal Euro 37,500 thousand matures in 2020 and the accrued interest is 
capitalized yearly and will be repaid on maturity. 

 
Due to the circumstances described above, the Group consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis as the Managers are not aware of any material uncertainties or doubts concerning the Group's 
ability to continue its activities in the foreseeable future.  

 

Set out below are the accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 
CONTENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
The consolidated financial statements include: 
 
1. The consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2012, together with the comparative 

consolidated income statement for the prior year. In particular, it should be noted that the consolidated 
income statement format presents an analysis of costs aggregated by nature, since this classification is 
considered to be more relevant for the purposes of an understanding of Group's results.  

 
 Furthermore it should be noted that, with respect to the prior year, the Group has renamed certain 

components of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 with the sole aim 
of improving the legibility and the quality of reporting. The following income statement totals have been 
changed: "Total value of production" has been renamed "Total revenue" while the sub-total "Total 
production costs" has been removed. In addition, the previous used intermediate result called "Gross 
Operating Margin (GOM)", shown in the consolidated financial statements until 31 December 2011 has been 
removed, following the same reason as above. All the described changes, occurred in the consolidated 
financial statements as of 31 December 2012, have been reflected in the 31 December 2011 comparative 
statements. 
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 Lastly, since no discontinued or similar operations occurred in either the 2012 or 2011 financial years, 
"Profit (loss) for the year" is derived solely from current operations; consequently, the Company has not 
presented an income statement line "Profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations" since, as indicated, 
this coincides with "Profit (loss) for the year". 

 
2. The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2012, compared to 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011. In fact, IAS 1 no 
longer requires the presentation of income and charges recorded directly within equity (defined as changes 
generated by transactions with “minorities”) in the statement of changes in equity, which has to evidence 
only changes generated by transactions with shareholders/quotaholders along with comprehensive income as 
defined below. In accordance with IAS 1, in fact, all the changes generated by transactions with non-
controlling interests, whether recorded in the income statement or accounted for directly within equity, are to 
be shown in one separate statement (statement of comprehensive income) or in two separate statements 
(income statement and statement of comprehensive income), as is the case for the Group, which has 
presented comprehensive results for the year (so called comprehensive income). Up to the 2011 consolidated 
financial statements, revenues and costs for the year were presented solely in the consolidated income 
statement, since there were no circumstances requiring separate presentation in a consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as required by IFRS. As detailed below, following the early application of the new 
accounting standard IAS 19, it was necessary to disclose the required information for the 2012 consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, whereas no restatement was made of the information relating to the 
2011 consolidated statement of comprehensive income, since the amount was negligible. 

 
3. The consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2012, together with the comparative 

consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2011. In particular, the consolidated statement 
of financial position has been prepared using a format, in accordance with IAS 1, classified on the basis of 
the operating cycle, with a distinction between current and non-current components. On the basis of this 
distinction, assets and liabilities are considered to be current, if it is assumed that they will be realised or 
settled during the normal operating cycle.  

 
4. The consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2012, together with the comparatives 

for the year ended 31 December 2011. For the preparation of the consolidated cash flow statement, the 
indirect method has been used, in compliance with IAS 7, under which income or the loss for the year is 
adjusted for the effects of non-cash transactions, for items such as deferred payments and charges that are the 
cause of charges and payments in the past or in the future, as well as items of gains or losses associated with 
cash flows of activities classified as investment or financing. The Group has decided to apply the indirect 
method starting from the operating result, considering qualitative information factors. It should be noted that, 
with respect to the version presented up until the prior year, (i) certain components of cash flows from 
financing activities have been grouped together and (ii) some descriptive refinements have been made to the 
presentation of the cash flow statements; it should be noted that, with respect to the version presented up 
until the prior year, some descriptive refinements have been made to the presentation of the cash flow 
statement; 
 

5. The consolidated statement of changes in owner's equity for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 
takes account of the previously mentioned changes correlated to the implementation of IAS 1. 
 

6.  The notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

 
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

 
The consolidated financial statements of TeamSystem Holdco Group include the financial statements of the Parent 
Company and those of entities for which TeamSystem Holdco controls directly or indirectly the majority of voting 
rights that can be exercised at a quotaholders/shareholders' general meeting. 
 
A listing of entities consolidated on a line-by-line basis is provided in the following table (values in Euro) and it 
should be noted that the consolidation % takes account of any put and call options stipulated during the course of 
acquisitions: 
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(1) = holding would be 100% should put/call option be exercised; 
(2) = takes account of treasury shares held by Gruppo Euroconference; 
(3) = holding would be 96.87% should put/call option be exercised; 
(4) = investment held by Education Team Srl; 
(5) = investments held by Nuovamacut Automazione Spa. 
 

 
Changes to the scope of consolidation during the course of 2012 
 
The scope of consolidation, (that is the consolidation percentages) changed during the course of 2012 due to the 
effect of the following transactions (more detailed information on accounting for new acquired companies can be 
also find in Note 34 of these consolidated financial statements): 

a) the acquisition (by TeamSystem S.r.l.) of a 100% controlling interest in Paradigma Srl and the 
subsequent contribution to the newly formed company Education Team Srl. A contribution was also 
made of Optime Srl (initially held by third parties) to Education Team Srl; subsequent to this double 
contribution, TeamSystem Srl's percentage holding in Education Team Srl fell from the original 100% to 
77.50%. At the same time, contracts were stipulated for put and call options for the remaining quote 
capital not yet held. The financial statements of Paradigma Srl and Optime Srl have been consolidated for 
the entire 2012 financial year; the financial statements of Education Team Srl have been consolidated as 
from the date of incorporation of this company;  

b) the acquisition of Nuovamacut Automazione Spa by TeamSystem Srl; 
c) the acquisition of TeamSystem Torino Srl and the subsequent merger of this company with TeamSystem 

Milano Srl, from which emerged the company named TeamSystem 2 Srl (which is fully held by 
TeamSystem S.r.l.); 

d) the acquisition of the entire quota capital of Zeronove Srl and the subsequent merger through the 
absorption of Zeronove Srl into TeamSystem Srl with an effective date for accounting and tax purposes 
of 1 January 2012; 

e) the acquisition of a further of 8.46% in TeamSystem Ancona Srl. The percentage held by TeamSystem 
Srl has thus become 89.65%; 

f) the cover of losses incurred by Nuovamacut Bologna Macchine Utensili Srl by Nuovamacut 
Automazione Spa; 

g) the acquisition of a further 19.46% in Nuovamacut Nord Ovest srl by Nuovamacut Automazione Srl; the 
percentage holding increased from 66.88% to 86.34%; 

h) the acquisition of a further 7.50% in Nuovamacut Nord Est srl by Nuovamacut Automazione Srl; the 
percentage holding increased from 67.50% to 75.00%; 

i) the merger through absorption of DRC Form Srl into Gruppo Euroconference Spa; 
j) the acquisition of a controlling interest of 60% of the quota capital of Digita Srl (the financial statements 

of which have been consolidated for the full 2012 financial year considering the proximity of the 
transaction to the beginning of the financial year) and the simultaneous stipulation of put and call option 
agreements for the remaining quotas not yet held; 

  

CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Place of incorporation and 

operation
Share capital Net equity Profit (loss) for the 

year
Held % Equity ratios %

Titan Luxco 2 S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 3,213,641 317,293,702 -458,321 100.00% 100.00%
Titan Luxco 3 S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 3,188,638 308,724,213 2,478,514 100.00% 100.00%
TeamSystem S.r.l. Pesaro - Italy 24,000,000 239,041,151 -91,054,316 100.00% 100.00%
TeamSystem Ancona Srl Ancona 400,000 2,711,723 317,531 89.65% 89.65%
TeamSystem Akron Srl Ancona 52,000 738,574 280,730 51% (1) 100.00%
TeamSystem Emilia Srl Reggio Emilia 100,000 2,478,698 1,042,531 75.00% 75.00%
TeamSystem 2 Srl Milano 66,666 3,416,808 516,209 100.00% 100.00%
Gruppo Euroconference Spa Verona 300,000 6,161,594 1,695,193 96,48% (2) / (3) 96.87%
Paradigma Srl Torino 46,800 641,964 585,804 77,5% (1) / (4) 100.00%
Optime Srl Torino 50,000 90,402 -37,069 77,5% (1) / (4) 100.00%
Education Team Srl Torino 500,000 7,390,791 -3,220 77,5% (1) 100.00%
Lexteam Srl Pesaro 20,000 909,705 103,339 87,5% (1) 100.00%
Metodo Spa Bassano (VI) 100,000 4,129,468 986,215 90% (1) 100.00%
TeamSystem Roma Srl Roma 10,320 1,003,794 110,311 100.00% 100.00%
Inforyou Srl Castello di Godego (TV) 31,250 1,688,730 708,674 60% (1) 100.00%
TeamSystem Service Srl Campobasso 50,000 -229,431 -279,431 100.00% 100.00%
I.S.P. Srl Parma 10,400 318,845 234,878 60% (1) 100.00%
TeamSystem Communication Srl Civitanova Marche (MC) 23,300 73,815 -200,682 60% (1) 100.00%
Danea Soft Srl Vigonza (PD) 100,000 1,404,665 973,800 51% (1) 100.00%
Digita Srl Asolo (TV) 10,000 -71,794 -91,313 60% (1) 100.00%
H UMUS Srl Roncade (TV) 50,000 516,225 247,895 85% (1) 100.00%
Nuovamacut Automazione Spa Reggio Emilia 108,000 1,537,556 59,991 100.00% 100.00%
Nuovamacut Nord Ovest Srl Reggio Emilia 89,957 1,255,099 492,719 86,33% (5) 86.34%
Nuovamacut Nord Est Srl Reggio Emilia 100,000 356,948 101,181 75,00% (5) 75.00%
Nuovamacut Bologna Macchine Utensili Srl Reggio Emilia 70,000 114,941 58,922 75% (5) 75.00%
Nuovamacut Centro Sud Srl Roma 10,000 71,214 20,010 70% (5) 70.00%
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k) the acquisition of an 85% controlling interest in H-Umus Srl (for which only the statement of financial 
position was consolidated at 31 December 2012) and the subsequent stipulation of put and call option 
agreements for the remaining quotas not yet held; 

l) the acquisition of a further 5.87% of the share capital of Gruppo Euroconference Spa as well as the 
simultaneous stipulation of put and call option agreements for 0.39% of the company's share capital. 

 
   
REFERENCE DATE 

 
All the financial statements of the TeamSystem Holdco Group companies have a 31 December financial year-end. 
 
 

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 
 
The financial statements used for the consolidation are the financial statements of the individual companies, as 
approved by the respective administrative bodies. These financial statements are reclassified and adjusted in order 
to comply with IFRS and the accounting policies adopted by the Parent Company.  
 
These are consolidated on a line-by-line basis with respect to subsidiaries over which the Group exercises control, 
either through a direct or indirect majority holding of shares or quotas with voting rights or through the exercise of 
dominant influence, intended as the power to determine, even indirectly, the financial and operating policies of the 
companies / entities and to obtain benefits from their activities, regardless of the equity stake held. The existence 
of potential voting rights capable of being exercised at the balance sheet date is considered for the purposes of the 
determination of control.  
Subsidiaries are essentially consolidated as from the date on which control is assumed and are deconsolidated 
from the date on which control ceases.  
 
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the statement of financial position, income statement 
components, of comprehensive income are consolidated line-by-line. Receivables and payables, income and 
charges and gains and losses originating from transactions between and among the entities included in the 
consolidation are eliminated. The carrying value of consolidated equity investments is eliminated against the 
corresponding portion of equity attributable to the Group (or to non-controlling interests). 
  
Business combinations 
 
Acquired subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the acquisition method as provided for by IFRS 3. The 
cost of the acquisition is determined by the sum of acquisition-date current values of the consideration transferred, 
liabilities incurred or assumed and financial instruments issued by the Group for the change in control of the 
business acquired.  
 
All other costs associated with a transaction are expensed. 
 
Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the businesses acquired, which meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3, are measured at their acquisition-date current values, except for non-current assets 
(or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and which are recorded and measured in 
accordance with applicable accounting standards. 
 
Goodwill is measured as the difference between the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest and the acquisition-date fair value of the 
acquirer's previously-held equity interest in the acquiree and the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If the value of the acquisition-date amounts of the assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest and the fair value of the acquirer's previously-held equity interest in the acquiree, the surplus is 
recognised immediately in the income statement as income arising from the completed transaction. 
 
Non-controlling interests at the acquisition date may be measured at fair value or the non-controlling interest's 
proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree. The option is available on a transaction by transaction basis. 
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The Group, normally at the same time as the acquisition of majority / controlling stakes in an investee, enters into 
put and call option agreements for the residual stake held by minority owners of the acquiree. For those cases 
where part of the acquisition takes place through the stipulation of a binding option agreement, with the 
simultaneous presence of put and call clauses, the investee is consolidated, since the substance of the binding 
option agreement is that of the payment of deferred consideration for part of the investee's capital, as evidenced by 
a series of transactions completed in the past. Accordingly, the estimated value of the exercise price of the put / 
call is included in the cost of acquisition and contributes to the overall determination of goodwill. This accounting 
method applies only where the Group has acquired majority control of the voting rights of the companies acquired 
and where no doubt arises as to the distribution of relevant amounts of dividends in the period up to the date the 
option is exercised. In view of the recognition of goodwill related to these options, TeamSystem Group accounts 
for, as a financial liability, the payable (so-called vendor loan) related to the estimated actual consideration for the 
exercise of the options. In accordance with this principle, subsequent changes in the fair value of the payable, due 
to amendments made to the initial assessment of the exercise consideration, are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement, as is the case for the notional charges deriving from the gradual decrease of the effect of 
discounting. To note that, in absence of a clear accounting rule for the accounting of non-controlling interests in 
the case of put and call arrangements, following also the IFRIC and IASB debate, the Company has decided to use 
the described method, acceptable under current framework and positions. 
Any acquisitions of non-controlling interests subsequent to having achieved control are accounted for as 
transactions between shareholders, with the pertinent goodwill recorded as a reduction of the Group's equity, in 
compliance with the requirements of IFRS 3. 
 
Business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are excluded from the scope of 
IFRS 3. A business combination involving entities or businesses under common control is a combination in which 
all the entities or businesses are controlled by the same party or when the controlling party before and after a 
business combination is the same and control is not of a temporary nature. The existence of a non-controlling 
interest in each of the entities being combined, before or after the business combination, is not relevant for the 
determination of whether the business combination involves entities under common control. Transactions of this 
type (excluding transactions between companies included in the same scope of consolidation, since, in such a 
case, the principle of continuity of values applies) and which do not have a significant impact on future cash flow 
from the net assets transferred, are accounted for in accordance with the principle of continuity of carrying values, 
otherwise they fall within the scope of IFRS 3. 
 

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial statements of the entities comprised within the scope of consolidation are all prepared in Euros, 
considering all subsidiaries at today are located in Luxembourg and Italy and there are no relevant operation 
conducted abroad. 
 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Research and development expenses 
In accordance with IAS 38, research expenses are charged to the income statement as incurred.  

Development costs incurred in relation to a determined project are capitalised only when the Group can 
demonstrate, by means of appropriate analysis, the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale, the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it, how the intangible 
asset will generate probable future economic benefits, the availability of adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 
intangible asset during its development. 

After initial recognition, development costs are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation begins when development is complete and the asset is available for 
use. It is amortised with reference to the period for which it is envisaged that the associated project will generate 
revenues for the Group. During the period in which an asset is no longer in use, it is assessed annually to ascertain 
if there has been any impairment. 

Other development expenses that do not meet the above requirements are expensed as incurred. Development 
costs that have previously been expensed are not accounted for as an asset in subsequent periods.  

Capitalised development costs are amortised (as from the start of the production or marketing of the product) on a 
straight line basis over their residual useful life (estimated to be between 3 and 5 years). 
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Customer relationship 
Customer relationship (which arose on accounting for the acquisition of TeamSystem Group that took place on 
30 September 2010 by actual main shareholder HG) represents the total of contractual (supply contracts and 
service contracts etc.) and non contractual customer relationships and has been valued based on discounted 
income flows (Income Approach). The asset is amortised over its useful life estimated to be twenty years. 

Proprietary software 
Proprietary software, which arose on accounting for the acquisition of TeamSystem Group that took place on 
30 September 2010, is stated at its reproduction cost and is amortised over the length of its expected useful life of 
5 years. 

Proprietary software developed internally and destined for internal use is stated at cost of production and is 
amortised over the length of its residual expected useful life. 

Third party software licenced for internal use 
Third party software licenced for internal use is stated at purchase cost and is amortised over the length of its 
residual expected useful life estimated to be of five years. 

Brands 
The TeamSystem, Euroconference, Metodo and Nuovamacut brands, which arose on accounting for the 
acquisition of TeamSystem Group that took place on 30 September 2010, have been valued in accordance with the 
royalties method and are amortised over the length of their residual expected useful life estimated to be of twenty 
years (TeamSystem and Euroconference) or ten years (Metodo and Nuovamacut). 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is initially recognised at cost, represented by the excess cost of the business combination over the fair 
value of the assets and liabilities acquired. 

Goodwill is not amortised, as required by IFRS, but is allocated to its respective Cash Generating Unit (hereinafter 
“CGU”) and subjected annually (or more frequently if determined events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
possibility that value has been impaired) to impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 

Subsequent costs 
Costs incurred subsequently on intangible assets are capitalised if they increase the future economic benefit of the 
specific capitalised asset. 

Amortisation 
Amortisation is charged systematically on a straight line basis over the asset's estimated useful life, except for 
intangible assets with an indefinite life (being solely goodwill) that are not amortised and are systematically 
assessed to verify the absence of impairment. Other intangible assets are amortised as from the time they become 
usable. The estimated useful life of each main category is shown in the following table: 
 

  
Goodwill Indefinite useful life 
  
Brands 10 - 20 years 
  
Customer relationship 20 years 
  
Proprietary software 5 years 
  
Development expenses  3 - 5 years 
  

 
 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 
Property, plant and equipment owned by the Group 
Property, plant and equipment consisting mainly of land, buildings, electronic machines, furniture and fittings and 
general and specific plant are stated at purchase cost, net of accumulated depreciation and writedowns. Costs 
incurred subsequent to acquisition (repairs and maintenance costs and replacement costs) are recorded as part of 
the carrying value of an asset, or recognised as a separate asset, only when it is believed that it is probable that 
associated future economic benefits will be generated and that the cost of the asset can be measured in a reliable 
manner.  
  



 
 TeamSystem Holdco Group 
 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 Page 22 

 
 

Repairs and maintenance costs (or costs of replacements that do not have the above characteristics) are expensed 
in the year in which they are incurred. Property, plant and equipment are systematically depreciated each year at 
rates determined on the basis of the residual useful life of the asset. The rates applied by the Group are the 
following:  
 

  
Land Indefinite useful life 
  
Buildings 33 years 
  
Plant and machinery 10 years 
  
Industrial and commercial equipment 7 years  
  
Other assets 4 - 7 years 
  

 

Regardless of the depreciation already accounted for, in the event of impairment, an asset is written down 
accordingly. Gains and losses arising on disposal are determined by comparing the sales consideration to the net 
book value. The amount determined is accounted for in the consolidated income statement in the pertinent year.  

 
Financial charges incurred for capital expenditure on an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to 
get it ready for its intended use (“qualifying asset” in accordance with IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs) are capitalised 
and depreciated over the useful life of the asset class to which they relate. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the year they are incurred. 
 
Leased assets 
In accordance with IAS 17, lease contracts are classified as finance leases where the terms of the contract are such 
as to transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 
considered to be operating leases. Leased assets are recognised at amounts equal to the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability towards the lessor is included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as a liability for lease obligations. Payments of lease instalments are split between their 
capital and interest elements in order to produce a constant periodic interest rate on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Financial charges are expensed in the year.  
 

EQUITY INVESTMENTS 
 
Equity investments in other businesses classified as non current assets are stated at cost, inclusive of directly 
attributable charges, net of any impairment adjustments. 
 

INVENTORY 
 
Inventory, that includes mostly some hardware and licences purchased from third parties for re-selling, is stated at 
the lower of specific purchase cost, inclusive of ancillary charges and its estimated realisable value, which can be 
derived from market prices. Inventories of obsolete or slow moving items are written down by taking account of 
their potential use or realisation. 
 

TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 
Receivables are recorded at cost (identified by their nominal value), net of a provision to take account of their 
expected realisable value equivalent to fair value.  
  

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 
 
Cash and bank balances include cash on hand, bank and post office account balances and securities with an 
original maturity of less than three months. 
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
 
Non current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying value will be recovered 
mainly from the sale thereof rather than from their continuous use. Assets are measured at the lower of carrying 
value and fair value net of costs to sell. Assets and liabilities held for sale are presented separately from other 
assets and liabilities on the face of the statement of financial position. The impact on income of discontinued 
assets is presented separately in the income statement net of the tax effect. 
 
No discontinued or similar operations occurred in either the 2012 or 2011 financial years and consequently related 
financial statements do not present any assets and liabilities classified as held for sale. 
 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The functional and presentation currency of the Group Companies is the Euro. As required by IAS 21, amounts 
originally denominated in foreign currency are translated at exchange rates ruling at the year end. Exchange 
differences realised on the collection of foreign currency receivables and on the payment of foreign currency 
payables are recorded in the consolidated income statement. 
 

IMPAIRMENT 
 
The carrying value of assets with an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill and intangible assets in process of 
formation, are not subject to depreciation or amortisation, but are assessed annually to determine whether an asset 
may be impaired. 
 
The carrying value of other assetsfor financial instruments covered by IAS39 and for deferred tax assets (IAS12), 
are subject to assessment at each the consolidated statement of financial position date (or more frequently if 
determined events or changes in circumstances indicate the possibility that value has been impaired) to determine 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired (impairment test). The estimated recoverable amount 
is represented by value in use. For the purposes of assessment, assets are grouped into the smallest identifiable 
unit for which the Managers are capable of separating the related cash inflows (CGU). 
 
If the recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit (CGU) is lower than the net carrying amount, the 
asset is adjusted to take account of the impairment loss, which is charged to the consolidated income statement. 
The impairment loss of a cash generating unit is first allocated to goodwill and any residual balance is allocated to 
other assets.  
 
Three cash generating units have been identified by the Group as follows: the Software and Services (SWSS) 
CGU consisting of all the Group companies operating in the software sector (comprising Metodo), the Education 
CGU (consisting of Gruppo Euroconference, Paradigma Srl, Optime Srl, Education Team Srl) and the CAD/CAM 
CGU (relating to Nuovamacut Group Companies). The goodwill allocated to the Software and Services CGU, to 
the Education CGU and the CAD/CAM CGU are subject to impairment tests (at least annually) by comparing its 
carrying value to recoverable amount given by the higher between fair value and value in use. 
 

INTEREST BEARING FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
Classification as debt or equity  
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual agreement.  
 
Equity instruments  
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.  
 
Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or other 
financial liabilities. 
 
Interest bearing financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to their 
initial recognition, interest bearing financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. As at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date, the Group Companies do not hold any financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss.  
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HEDGING INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Group Companies use financial derivatives. These financial derivatives are classified as financial instruments 
held for trading, unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. These financial derivatives are 
initially recognised at fair value at the date in which they are stipulated; subsequently, the fair value is periodically 
remeasured. They are accounted for as an asset when the fair value is positive and as a liability when it is 
negative. Any gain or loss resulting from a change in fair value is taken to the income statement. The fair value of 
interest rate swap contracts is determined with reference to the market value of similar instruments. 
At the start of a hedging transaction, the Group designates and formally documents the hedging relationship to 
which it intends applying hedge accounting, its risk management objectives and the strategies pursued. The 
documentation includes the identification of the hedging instrument, of the element or transaction subject to 
hedging, of the nature of the risk and the means by which the business intends assessing the effectiveness of the 
hedge in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of the hedged element or in the cash flows attributable 
to the hedged risk. It is expected that these hedges are highly effective in offsetting the hedged exposure or 
changes in the hedged cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. The assessment of whether these hedges have 
been proven to be highly effective is performed on a continuous basis during the financial year in which they have 
been designated. The transactions that satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for on the basis of 
the following policy. 
The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective hedge is taken directly to equity, 
whereas the non effective portion is immediately recognised in the consolidated income statement. The gain or 
loss included in equity is reclassified to the consolidated income statement in the year in which the hedged 
transaction impacts the consolidated income statement, that is, when the financial charge or income is recognised. 
If it is believed that the envisaged transaction will no longer take place, the amounts initially recorded in equity 
are transferred to the consolidated income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold or annulled or if 
its designation as hedging is revoked, the amounts previously included in equity remain as such until such time as 
the expected transaction takes place. To note anyway that in the last two years the Group has designed as hedging 
none of its derivatives (derivative instruments in place have been infact considered as held for trading and 
consequently accounted in compliance with related requirements (changes in fair value in profit and loss). 
 

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 
 
Defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan for which the company pays fixed contributions to a separate entity. 
The company does not have any obligation, legal or otherwise, to make additional contributions if the fund has 
insufficient assets to meet the payment of all employee benefits relating to the period of service. The obligations 
related to contributions for employees' pensions and other benefits are expensed as incurred.  
 
Defined benefit plans 
Net obligations related to defined benefit plans consist mainly of employee termination indemnities and are 
calculated by estimating, with actuarial techniques, the amount of the future benefit accrued to employees in the 
current and prior financial years. The benefit thus determined is discounted and recognised net of the fair value of 
any related assets. The computation is performed by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year in which they 
arise.  
 
Following the introduction of new legislation on supplementary pensions, as per Italian Legislative  
Decree 252/2005, introduced by the 2007 Finance Act, the possibility has arisen to transfer accruing severance 
indemnities to supplementary pension funds. Consequently, in the actuarial valuation of the Provision for 
employee termination indemnities at 31 December 2008, account was taken of the effects deriving from the 
legislation, recognising, for IAS/IFRS purposes, only the liability relating to accrued severance indemnities 
remaining as a consolidated statement of financial position liability, as the amounts accruing are paid over to a 
separate entity (supplementary pension fund or the state fund Istituto Nazionale di Previdenza Sociale “INPS”).  
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As from the 2012 consolidated financial statements, the Group has elected for early application of IAS 19 revised. 
The amendment to IAS 19 - Employee benefits, eliminates the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains 
and losses under the "corridor" method and requires the entire deficit or surplus to be recorded in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the separate recognition in the consolidated income statement of service cost 
and net interest, while actuarial gains and losses arising from the new measurement each year of assets and 
liabilities are required to be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore, the return on 
assets included in net interest is calculated on the basis of the discount rate used for liabilities and no longer on the 
expected return.  
 

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 
Where the Group has an obligation, legal or otherwise, resulting from a prior event and it is probable that this will 
lead to the loss of economic benefits to meet the obligation, an appropriate provisions for risks and charges is 
recorded. No provision is made for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the current value of 
management's best estimate of the cost of satisfying the obligation existing at the consolidated statement of 
financial position date. With respect to legal cases, the amount of the provision is determined on the basis of 
estimates made by the relevant consolidated company, together with its legal advisors, in order to determine the 
probability, the timing and the amounts involved.  
 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
Trade and other payables are stated at cost, representing their settlement value. 
 

REVENUE 
 
The criteria to account and recognize revenues in our business may vary, considering the different nature of sales 
(software licenses, products as hardware components and assistance services) and the related different streams of 
revenues, also connected to our three business operating segment. In detail: 
 

SOFTWARE AND SERVICES BUSINESS UNIT  
 

Direct Channel 
 

Software licenses: revenues from sales of software licenses are recognized at the delivery date, as all contractual 
obligations are performed and generally there are no rights of return or acceptance clauses.  
In case the sale contracts include separate revenue streams for other services, such as maintenance and assistance, 
the revenues in respect of these streams are separately identifiable in the contract (no multiple arrangements). 
 
Maintenance and assistance to customers: maintenance and assistance contracts, that include software updates, 
help lines and on-site support, generally cover a twelve-month period and related revenues are recognized on a 
straight line basis over that period, considering the portion of revenues pertaining to the following years as 
deferred income.  
 
Hardware and other products: revenues related to hardware components and other products purchased from third 
parties, are recognized at the delivery date, as all contractual obligations are performed and generally there are no 
rights of return or acceptance clauses. 

 
Other services: revenues related to training, support, implementation and customization software activities that are 
either included within the main contract or negotiated under following deals, are recognized at the service 
execution date. Revenues related to Erp (Enterprise Resource Planning) implementation services still ongoing at 
the balance sheet date are recognized on the basis of their percentage of completion at that date. 
 
Indirect Channel 

 
VARs (Value Added Reseller) contracts: the contracts generally cover a three-year period and include a flat fee 
payment that allows the VARs to download unlimited number of license and to receive software updates and 
assistance services. Contracts are invoiced on a quarterly or yearly basis and related revenues are recognized on a 
straight line basis over that period.  
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Software licenses: revenues from sales of software licenses not included in a flat fee contract (see previous 
paragraph) are recognized at the delivery date, as all contractual obligations are performed and generally there are 
no rights of return or acceptance clauses. 
In case of software sales related to additional features which are sold as Temporary Annual Licenses (TLA), 
downloaded from TeamSystem website by VARs, revenues are recognized at the download date for new licenses 
and on a straight line basis for the renewals which automatically take place at the beginning of each year. 

 
Other services and products: additional support services and products are offered to resellers, including training, 
marketing, manuals; revenues are normally recognized when the service has been rendered consistent with IAS 18 
or the product has been delivered. 

 

EDUCATION BUSINESS UNIT 

Publishing: revenues from sale of books and electronic manuals are recognized at the delivery date. 
 

Training: sales include large conferences, masters and specialist training. Revenues are recognized based on the 
services provided in any given period; in the case of training is delivered across different accounting periods, 
revenues are recognized on a pro-rata basis according to the “stage of completion” of the training programme, 
consistent with IAS 18. 

 
Information: sales include newsletter subscriptions and technical update documents, which generally cover a 
twelve-month period and related revenues are recognized on a straight line basis over that period, considering the 
portion of revenues pertaining to the following years as deferred income.  

 
CAM/CAD BUSINESS UNIT 

Software licenses: revenues from sales of software licenses are recognized at the delivery date, as all contractual 
obligations are performed and generally there are no rights of return or acceptance clauses.  
In case the sale contracts include separate revenue streams for other services, such as maintenance and assistance, 
the revenues in respect of these streams are separately identifiable in the contract (no multiple arrangements). 
 
Maintenance and assistance to customers: maintenance and assistance contracts, that include software updates, 
help lines and on-site support, generally cover a range from one to three years period and related revenues are 
recognized on a straight line basis over that period, considering the portion of revenues pertaining to the following 
years as deferred income.  
 
For all the above streams of revenues, there are usually no sales under multiple-element arrangements (e.g. goods 
and services) for which separate recognition of revenues would be required (as explained, in the case some 
services are included in a licence sale contract, we usually specify the different related amounts of revenues). 
 
Grants 
Grants are recognised when there is reasonable certainty that they will be received and that all related conditions 
will be met. Grants towards cost components are recognised as income, but are systematically allocated to the 
financial year, in order to match the costs they are intended to offset. For grants towards the cost of an asset, the 
asset and the grant are recognised at their nominal value and the release to income takes place gradually, on a 
straight line basis, over the expected useful life of the asset. 
Where a non cash grant is received, the asset and the contribution are recognised at their nominal value and are 
released to income on a straight line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. 
 
Dividends 
The distribution of dividends to shareholders of the Group Companies is recognised as a liability in the period in 
which they are approved by the general meeting of shareholders. 
 

COSTS 
 
Rent and operating leases charges 
Rent and operating leases charges are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis. 
 
Financial income and expense 
Financial income and expense are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis.  
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Current and deferred taxation 
The tax charge for the year comprises current and deferred taxation. Current tax is charged to income, except for 
cases where the tax relates to items accounted for as an equity component. Current tax is calculated by applying 
the tax rate in force at the consolidated statement of financial position date to taxable income. Concerning IRES 
(corporate income tax for the Italian subsidiaries), it should be noted that TeamSystem S.r.l. and some of its 
subsidiaries have elected for a consolidated tax regime, with their parent company as tax consolidator. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated, using the so-called liability method, on temporary differences between the book and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is calculated as a function of the expected timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences, using the tax rate in force at the date of the expected reversal. A deferred tax asset is 
recognised only where its is probable that sufficient taxable income will be generated in subsequent years for the 
recovery thereof. 
 

NON-RECURRING ITEMS 
 
The Group has evidenced income components deemed to be non-recurring, since they pertain to events or 
transactions, the occurrence of which is non-recurring, that is, resulting from transactions or facts that are not 
repeated frequently in the normal conduct of business activities; in detail: 
 
- non recurring expenses relate to costs (such as tax and legal advices, costs incurred in the valuation of 

possible acquisition) the nature of which is considered to be unusual and non-recurring with respect ot the 
business’s ordinary operations; 

- non recurring taxes relate to unusual changes in income and deferred taxes. In 2012, the main figure were 
due to retrospective modification in Italian tax legislation (as the c.d. “Monti’s maenuver” in 2012). 

 
For further information please refer to Notes 24 and 29 of this consolidated financial statements. 
 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
No such information has been disclosed as the Parent Company does not have any financial instruments listed on 
regulated markets; consequently, as permitted by IAS 33, the information on earnings per share is not provided in 
these notes. 
 
 
 USE OF ESTIMATES 
The preparation of the consolidatedfinancial statements requires the Company to apply accounting policies and 
methods, which, in certain circumstances, depend on difficult and subjective assessments that may be based on 
past experience and on assumptions that, from time to time, are considered reasonable and realistic based on 
relevant circumstances. The application of these estimates and assumptions affects the amounts presented in the 
consolidated financial statements, comprising the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidate 
income statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as well as the disclosures provided. The actual amounts 
of the consolidated financial statement components, for which estimates and assumptions have been used, may 
differ from those reported, due to the uncertainty of assumptions and the conditions on which estimates are based. 
In particular, the uncertainty caused by the current economic and financial crisis has led to the need to make 
difficult assumptions regarding future business performance as reflected in the Business Plan (please refer to 
going concern paragraph). 
 
Set out below is a listing of consolidated financial statement items that, more than others, require greater 
subjectivity, on the part of the Company, in the application of estimates and, for which, a change in the conditions 
of underlying assumptions used may have a significant impact on the financial statements of the consolidated 
companies: 
x Business combinations (IFRS 3) and measurement of intangible assets: the process of allocation of goodwill 

to the assets of TeamSystem Group following a business combination is based on estimates and assumptions 
derived from the professional judgement of the Managers. Professional judgement is also used to determine 
the most appropriate methodologies for measurement, and in certain cases provisional initial accounting has 
been opted for, as permitted by the accounting standard.  
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x Goodwill and other intangible assets: goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are 
tested annually for impairment and during the course of the year if there is any indication thereof. Other 
intangible assets are tested annually for impairment when there are indications that the carrying amount may 
not be recovered. When value in use needs to be computed, the Managers estimate the cash flows expected 
from an asset or from the cash generating unit and choose an adequate discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value of the cash flows. Accordingly, the impairment test for goodwill and other intangible assets is 
performed using forecasts, which are naturally subject to uncertainty, of cash flow included in business plans 
approved by the relevant Board of Managers or in projections prepared by management of the Group 
companies in periods in which the business plan has not been updated for the insights needed to make 
strategic choices.  

x Development expenses: the initial capitalisation of costs is subject to confirmation of the judgement of 
Managers as to the technical and economic feasibility of the project, usually when the project has achieved a 
precise phase of the development plan. To determine the amount to be capitalised, the Managers apply 
various assumptions regarding expected future cash flows from the asset, the discount rate to apply and the 
periods in which the expected benefits will occur.  

x Deferred tax asset and liability: a deferred tax asset has been recognised until 31 December 2011 on interest 
expense exceeding gross operating income (hereinafter “GOI”) carried forward, only to the extent that it is 
probable that there will be sufficient future GOI to allow the surplus to be utilised. A significant discretional 
assessment is required to determine the amount that can be accounted for as a deferred tax asset. They have to 
estimate the probable timing and the amount of future GOI, as well as a planning strategy for future taxation. 

x Employee benefits: The cost of employee benefit plans is determined using actuarial assessments. An 
actuarial assessment requires the application of assumptions with respect to discount rates, the expected yield 
from investments, future wage increases, mortality rates and future increases in pensions. Due to the long 
term nature of these plans, the estimates are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. 

x Derivatives: the fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. Managers apply their own professional 
judgement to select the valuation methodology and the related assumptions based on market conditions at the 
end of each financial year. 

 
ROUNDING ADJUSTMENTS OF DATA 

 
The figures included in the consolidated financial statements (as described above) and in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of Euros, except where otherwise indicated, since 
this is the currency used in the conduct of Group's operations. 
 
Certain numerical figures contained in this consolidated financial statements, including financial information and 
certain operating data, have been subject to rounding adjustments due to the above presentation of numbers in 
thousands of Euros. Accordingly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a column or a row in tables may 
not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row.  
 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ADOPTED EARLY BY THE GROUP  
 
On 16 June 2011 the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) issued an amendment to IAS 19 - 
Employee benefits, which eliminates the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses under the 
"corridor" method and requires the entire deficit or surplus to be recorded in the statement of financial position 
and the separate recognition in the income statement of service cost and net interest, while actuarial gains and 
losses arising from the new measurement each year of assets and liabilities are required to be recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore, the return on assets included in net interest is calculated on the 
basis of the discount rate used for liabilities and no longer on the expected return. The amendment, which is 
applicable retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, has been applied early by 
TeamSystem Holdco Group as from 1 January 2012.  
 
If (in compliance with IAS 1, following the early application of IAS 19 as just commented upon) the Group had 
restated the 2011 consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated loss for the financial year would have been negatively impacted by approximately Euro 88 thousand 
(net of the tax effect), whereas the comprehensive result would have remained unchanged and neither would there 
have been any impact on the consolidated financial position. Consequently, considering the absolute immateriality 
of the amounts in question, the Group did not restate the consolidated income statement or the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the 2011 financial year, while no impact related to the consolidated 
statement of financial position.  
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLICABLE AS FROM 1 
JANUARY 2012 NOT RELEVANT TO THE COMPANY 
 
The following amendments, improvements and interpretations, effective as from 1 January 2012, apply to 
circumstances and cases that are not present within the Group as of the date of this annual financial report, but 
they could have an accounting impact on future transactions or agreements: 
 
x On 7 October 2011 the IASB published some amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: 

Disclosures. The amendments were issued with the intention of enhancing derecognition disclosure 
requirements for transfers of financial assets. In particular, the amendments require greater transparency 
as to the risk exposure associated with transfers of financial assets, where the transferor has some form of 
continuing involvement in these assets. Furthermore, the amendments require further disclosures, where 
a disproportionate amount of these transactions takes place at the end of an accounting period. The 
adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the financial statement disclosures. 

x On 20 December 2011 the IASB issued a minor amendment to IAS 12 - Income taxes that requires 
entities to measure deferred tax relating to investment property measured at fair value to reflect the 
manner in which the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered (through continued use or through 
sale). Specifically, the amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of an 
investment property measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 40 will be recovered entirely through 
sale and that the measurement of deferred tax, in jurisdictions in which tax rates are different, should 
reflect the rate applicable to the sale. The adoption of this amendment did not have any effect on the 
measurement of deferred tax at 31 December 2012. 
. 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLICABLE 
AND NOT ADOPTED EARLY BY THE COMPANY 
 
As of the date of this annual financial report the European Union's delegated bodies had not yet concluded the 
endorsement process required for the adoption of the amendments and standards described below: 
 
x On 12 November 2009 the IASB published IFRS 9 - Financial instruments: this standard was then 

amended on 28 October 2011. The standard, applicable retrospectively as from 1 January 2015, is the 
first part of a process in stages that has the objective of completely replacing IAS 39 and it introduces 
new criteria for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and for the 
derecognition of financial assets. In particular, for financial assets, the new standard uses a single 
approach based on the means of management of financial instruments and on the features of contractual 
cash flows from financial assets for the determination of the assessment criterion, replacing various 
provisions of IAS 39. Regarding financial liabilities, the main amendments relate to the accounting 
treatment of changes in fair value of a financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss, 
in the event that these are due to a change in the credit risk of the liability in question. In accordance with 
the new standard, these changes are to be presented in other comprehensive income and shall no longer 
be presented in the income statement.  

x On 19 March 2011 the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (endorsed on 04/03/2013) - Government Loans that amends the reference 
to accounting for government loans in the transition to IFRS (and, accordingly, it is not applicable to the 
Group). 

x On 17 May 2012 the IASB published the document Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2009-2011 Cycle, a 
collection of amendments to standards as part of the annual process of improvements thereto that 
concentrates on amendments considered necessary, but not urgent. Set out below are those that will lead 
to a change in presentation, recognition and measurement of financial statement components, with the 
omission of those that will only lead to a change in terminology or editorial changes with minimum 
effects in accounting terms, or those that have an effect on standards or interpretations not applicable to 
the Company:  
- IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements - Comparative information: this clarifies that, if additional 
comparative information is provided, this has to be presented in accordance with IAS/IFRS. Moreover, it 
clarifies that, if an entity changes an accounting policy or makes a retrospective restatement or 
reclassification, the entity is required to present an opening statement of financial position for the 
comparative period (“third statement of financial position”), whereas the explanatory notes are not 
required to provide comparative disclosures, not even for the “third statement of financial position”, apart 
for the components affected. 
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- IAS 16 Property, plant and machinery - Classification of servicing equipment: this clarifies that 
servicing equipment has to classified within property, plant and equipment if used for more than one 
financial year, or, otherwise, in inventory. 
- IAS 32 - Financial instruments: presentation - Tax effect of a distribution to holders of equity 
instruments and costs of equity instrument transactions: this clarifies that the tax effect of a distribution to 
holders of equity instruments should be accounted for in accordance with IAS 12. 
- IAS 34 Interim financial reporting - Total assets for a particular reportable segment: this clarifies that 
total assets need to be disclosed only when the amount is regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker and there has been a material change in the total amount disclosed in the entity’s previous 
annual financial statements for that reportable segment. 

 
The effective date for the proposed amendments is foreseen for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013, with early application permitted.  
 

x On 28 June 2012 the IASB published the document Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint 
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments to 
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12). In the first place, this aims to clarify the intentions of the Board with 
reference to the transition rules of IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements. The document defines the 
date of initial application of IFRS 10 as “the beginning of the annual period in which IFRS 10 is applied 
for the first time”. Accordingly, with entities with a financial year that coincides with the calendar year 
and which apply IFRS 10 for the first time to financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2013, 
the date of initial application will be 1 January 2013. If the conclusions regarding consolidation are the 
same as those under IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements / SIC 12 Consolidation - 
Special Purpose Entities and under IFRS 10 at the date of initial recognition, the entities will have no 
obligation. Likewise, no obligation will arise if an equity interest is disposed of during the course of a 
comparative period (and, as such, is no longer present at the date of initial application). The document 
proposes to amend IFRS 10 to clarify how an investor should retrospectively restate the period(s) and 
comparatives if the conclusions regarding consolidation are not the same as those under IAS 27 / SIC 12 
and IFRS 10 at the date of initial application. In particular, when it is not practicable to make a 
retrospective restatement as defined above, an acquisition/sale will be accounted for at the beginning of 
the comparative period presented, with a consequent restatement of retained earnings. 
 

x On 31 October 2012 amendments were issued to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities that 
introduce an exception from consolidation of subsidiaries by investment entities, except where the 
subsidiaries provide services relating to the investment activities. Pursuant to those amendments, an 
investment entity should measure those investments at fair value through profit or loss. To qualify as an 
investment entity, it has to: 
- obtain funds from one or more investor for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with 

investment management services; 
- commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from 

capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and  
- measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value 

basis. 
These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with early application 
permitted. 

 
All the above changes, according to Company’s evaluation, will no cause significant impacts on its consolidated 
financial statements, rather than some minor disclosure changes in the case. 
 
As of the date of this annual financial report the European Union's delegated bodies has concluded the 
endorsement process required for the adoption of the amendments and standards described below and which the 
Group has decided not to adopt early: 
x On 12 May 2011 the IASB issued IFRS 10 - Consolidated financial statements that will replace SIC-12 

Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and part of IAS 27 - Consolidated and separate financial 
statements, which will be renamed Separate financial statements and will outline the accounting 
treatment of equity investments in separate financial statements. The new standard moves away from 
existing standards, identifying the concept of control as a determining factor for the purposes of 
consolidation of a company in the parent company's consolidated financial statements. Moreover, it 
provides guidance for the determination of the existence of control where it is difficult to ascertain. The 
standard is applicable retrospectively as from 1 January 2013.  
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x On 12 May 2011 the IASB issued IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements, which will replace IAS 31 - Interests in 
Joint Ventures and SIC-13 - Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. The 
new standard provides criteria for the identification of joint arrangements based on rights and obligations 
deriving from the arrangements, rather than on the legal form thereof and establishes that the equity 
method has to be used to account for entities subject to joint control in consolidated financial statements. 
The standard is applicable retrospectively as from 1 January 2013. Subsequent to the adoption of IAS 28 
- Investments in associates, it was amended to include in the scope of its application, as from the 
effective date of the standard, equity investments in entities subject to joint control. 

x On 12 May 2011 the IASB issued IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities, which is a new and 
complete standard on additional disclosures to be provided for all types of equity investments, including 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, special purpose entities and other non-consolidated vehicles. 
The standard is applicable retrospectively as from 1 January 2013. 

x On 12 May 2011 the IASB issued IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement, which explains how fair value has 
to be determined for the purposes of financial statements and it applies to all standards that require or 
permit measurement at fair value or fair value disclosures. The standard is applicable prospectively as 
from 1 January 2013.  

x On 16 December 2011 the IASB issued some amendments to IAS 32 - Financial instruments: 
presentation, to clarify the application of certain criteria present in IAS 32 for offsetting financial assets 
and liabilities. The amendments are applicable retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014.  

x On 16 December 2011 the IASB issued some amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: 
disclosures. The amendment requires disclosure of the effect or the potential effect on the financial 
position of offsetting arrangements for financial assets and liabilities. The amendments are applicable to 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and for interim periods subsequent to that date. The 
information has to be provided retrospectively. 

x On 16 June 2011 the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation of financial statements, which 
requires companies to group together items within other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 
to the profit or loss section of the income statement. The amendment is applicable to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 

 

Notes to line items in consolidated financial statements: 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of Euro) 
 
1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Changes in tangible fixed assets in the 2012 and 2011 financial years are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
  

COST Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2011

Lands 1,898 1,898 
Buildings 7,923 25 7,947 
Plant and machinery 1,584 36 82  (20) 1,682 
Equipments 348 83 120  (2) 549 
Other assets 6,771 534 468  (558) 7,215 

Total 18,523 654 0 695  (580) 19,291 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Depreciation (Disposals) 31/12/2011

Lands 0 0 
Buildings 1,637 257 1,894 
Plant and machinery 1,340 27  (1) 85  (20) 1,432 
Equipments 290 81 26  (2) 395 
Other assets 5,477 386 1 522  (498) 5,888 

Total 8,744 494 0 890  (520) 9,608 
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During the course of 2012 the subsidiary TeamSystem Ancona Srl exercised the purchase option on previously 
leased land and buildings and, accordingly, there was no impact on the consolidated financial statements.  
 
“Land” at 31 December 2012 consists of approximately Euro 997 thousand of freehold land owned by the 
aforementioned company and some Euro 901 thousand of land owned by TeamSystem Srl. “Buildings”, relate for 
Euro 3,961 thousand to TeamSystem Srl and approximately Euro 1,894 thousand to the subsidiary TeamSystem 
Ancona Srl. 
 
The most significant additions in 2012 relate to “Other assets” of approximately Euro 640 thousand and 
“Equipment” of some Euro 61 thousand. 
 
2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Changes in intangible assets in the 2012 and 2011 financial years are set out below: 

 
 
  

NET VALUE Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Depreciation) (Disposals) 31/12/2011

Lands 1,898 1,898 
Buildings 6,286 25  (257) 6,054 
Plant and machinery 244 9 1 82  (85) 251 
Equipments 58 3 120  (26) 154 
Other assets 1,294 148  (1) 468  (522)  (60) 1,327 

Total 9,779 160 0 695  (890)  (60) 9,683 

COST Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2012

Lands 1,898 1,898 
Buildings 7,947 59 8,007 
Plant and machinery 1,682 19  (4) 282  (36) 1,944 
Equipments 549 2  (5) 61  (1) 606 
Other assets 7,215 242 9 640  (282) 7,823 
Assets under construction 26 26 

Total 19,291 263 0 1,068  (319) 20,304 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Depreciation (Disposals) 31/12/2012

Lands
Buildings 1,894 258 2,152 
Plant and machinery 1,432 11  (2) 88  (34) 1,495 
Equipments 395 1  (7) 38  (1) 426 
Other assets 5,888 174 11 551  (245) 6,379 

Total 9,608 185 3 936  (280) 10,453 

NET VALUE Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Depreciation) (Disposals) 31/12/2012

Lands 1,898 1,898 
Buildings 6,054 59  (258) 5,855 
Plant and machinery 251 9  (1) 282  (88)  (2) 449 
Equipments 154 1 1 61  (38)  (0) 180 
Other assets 1,327 68  (3) 640  (551)  (38) 1,444 
Assets under construction 26 26 

Total 9,683 78  (3) 1,068  (936)  (40) 9,851 

Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Amortization) (Impairments) 31/12/2011

Capitalized development expenses 416 129 93 1,152  (536) 1,254 
Software, trademarks, patens and licenses 77,572 182 12 135  (11,909) 65,993 
Customer relationship IFRS 223,549  (11,312) 212,236 
Other intangible assets 3,190 5 59  (256) 2,998 
Assets under construction 343  (105) 1,270 1,508 

0 0 
Total 305,069 317 0 2,616  (24,013) 0 283,990 



 
 TeamSystem Holdco Group 
 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 Page 33 

 
 

 

 
 
With respect to additions, in 2012, totalling Euro 6,259 thousand (Euro 2,616 thousand at 31 December 2011), the 
main expenditures relate to: 
a)  capitalised development costs of Euro 2,183 thousand relating to new products and / or new software 

modules developed mainly by the TeamSystem S.r.l. during the course of 2012 and which started being 
marketed in the same financial year (Euro 1,076 thousand in 2011); 

b)  assets in process of formation capitalised mainly by TeamSystem S.r.l. of Euro 2,084 thousand with respect 
to development costs of new products and /or new software modules, which at 31 December 2012 had not 
yet been completed or for which the marketing and sales phase had not yet started (Euro 1,085 thousand in 
2011). 

 
During the 2012 financial year TeamSystem S.r.l. initiated a complex long term project of technological renewal 
(“PROTEO 360”). This initiative, which is highly strategic in the field of information technology, is aimed at 
technological upgrading of the Group's entire software portfolio and application platforms by means of the 
renewal and innovation of existing software products and the alignment of the range to more recent and innovative 
technologies. The duration of the research and development on “PROTEO 360” (Product Renewal Project) is 
some 5 years, with an overall estimated expenditure budget of Euro 16 million approximately. In any case, the 
benefits of the overall project for the renewal of the software infrastructure will already be evident during the 
interim phase of gradual release of the innovative applications-functionalities. During the 2012 financial year 
costs were incurred of Euro 2.4 million, approximately.  
 
3 GOODWILL 
 

 
 
 

 
 
“Goodwill” (amounting to Euro 289,317 thousand at 31 December 2012) relates to the acquisition in 2010 of 
TeamSystem Group from HG Capital via the special purpose vehicle Titan BidCo Srl (Euro 266,849 thousand net 
of an impairment of Euro 75,000 thousand as explained below), and for the remaining part to the investments 
made in 2011 and 2012. 
 
The Goodwill relating to the acquisition of TeamSystem Group primarily consists of the excess consideration paid 
over the current value of the assets and liabilities acquired and it was allocated to the three CGU Software and 
Services (SWSS), Education and CAD/CAM, net of a writedown of Euro 75 million made in the 2012 financial 
year and which is commented upon later. 
 
  

Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Amortisation) (Impairments) 31/12/2012

Capitalized development expenses 1,254 59 1,115 2,204  (1,327) 3,304 
Software, trademarks, patens and licenses 403 7 1,828  (552) 1,686 
Brand IFRS 34,711  (2,073) 32,638 
Software IFRS 30,879  (8,624) 22,255 
Customer relationship IFRS 212,236  (11,343) 200,893 
Other assets IFRS 2,791  (167) 2,624 
Other intangible assets 207 9  (3) 116  (108) 221 
Assets under construction 1,508  (1,115) 2,112 2,505 

0 
Total 283,990 75  (3) 6,259  (24,194) 0 266,126 

Other
31/12/2010 movements Additions (Impairments) 31/12/2011

Goodwill CGU SWSS 314,794 11,788 326,582 
Goodwill CGU Education 20,645 15 20,660 
Goodwill  CGU CAD/CAM 6,410 6,410 

Total 341,849 0 11,803 0 353,652 

Other
31/12/2011 movements Additions (Impairments) 31/12/2012

Goodwill CGU SWSS 326,582 4,028  (75,000) 255,610 
Goodwill CGU Education 20,660 6,636 27,296 
Goodwill CGU CAD/CAM 6,410 6,410 

Total 353,652 0 10,664  (75,000) 289,316 
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The increases in “Goodwill” recorded in 2012 relate to the following:  
- with respect to the Software and Services CGU, Euro 3,565 thousand arising from the acquisition of  

H-Umus Srl and some Euro 462 thousand arising from the acquisition of Digita Srl; 
- with respect to the Education CGU, the increase in goodwill is linked to the acquisitions of the companies 

Optime Srl and Paradigma Srl, the holdings in which were then contributed by TeamSystem S.r.l. to 
Education Team Srl.  

 
The purchased Goodwill arising in 2012 has been determined provisionally, as determined and specified in 
Note 34 to these consolidated financial statements and to which reference should be made. In this regard, it should 
be noted that the definition of purchased Goodwill arising in 2011 and which was considered to be provisional for 
the purposes of the 2011 consolidated financial statements, did not lead to any differences with respect to the 
amount recorded in those consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, it has not been necessary to restate 
the 2011 consolidated financial statements. 
 
Impairment Tests 
The goodwill pertaining to each of the aforementioned CGUs is subject to impairment testing at least annually, 
except for acquisitions made at the year end, for which the consideration paid is representative of fair value.  
 
With respect to impairment tests, steps were taken to determine the recoverable amount (so-called Enterprise 
Value) of each CGU of TeamSystem Group as a whole, by means of the application of discounted cash flow 
methodology. The test was performed by discounting prospective cash flow for 2013-2017 as reported by the 
Business Plan approved by TeamSystem Srl’s Board of Directors on 29 March 2013; these forecasts evidence 
growth rates in turnover, EBITDA and cash flow that are more conservative with respect to TeamSystem Group's 
historical growth rates, to take account of the considerable uncertainty of the Italian economic environment. 
 
Beyond the time span of the Business Plan, a terminal value was determined assuming an operating cash flow 
(Net Operating Profit Less Adjusted Tax - NOPLAT) suitably normalised to maintain conditions of normal 
business operations. In the choice of the growth rate to apply to NOPLAT, it was established that, consistent with 
the development foreseen by the Business Plan and with historical growth, there was a reasonable expectation of 
growth of 1.9% (so-called g rate; in 2011 the g rate was 2%).  
 
In addition to the g rate assumption, the main assumptions adopted regard the estimate of the weighted average 
cost of capital (“WACC”) of 9.78% (9.80% was the rate used for the 2011 impairment test) for the SWSS CGU 
and the CAD/CAM CGU and of 8.78% (8.07% was the rate used for the 2011 impairment test) for the Education 
CGU. 
 
The impairment tests performed required a writedown of Euro 75 million to be recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, entirely related to the SWSS CGU; there was no 
evidence of impairment for the Education and CAD/CAM CGUs. 
 
TeamSystem Group’s Directors have also performed sensitivity analysis, by applying more prudent assumptions 
for the determination of WACC and g-rate parameters and the results of this analysis for the three CGUs are set 
out below, stated that the impairment loss of Euro 75 million highlighted in the sensitivity analysis related to the 
CGU SWSS has been recorded into the consolidated financial statements and consequently the impacts of 
sensitivity have to be interpreted taking into consideration such aspect: 
 

 
 
 

 
  

CGU SWSS
Cover / Impairment sensitivity WACC
Euro / million 8.78% 9.28% 9.78% 10.28% 10.78%

G RATE 0.0% -99.9 -124.1 -145.8 -165.4 -183.1 
0.50% -79.5 -106.2 -130.0 -151.3 -170.5 
1.00% -56.4 -86.1 -112.3 -135.7 -156.7 
1.90% -6.5 -43.0 -74.9 -102.9 -127.8 
2.00% -0.1 -37.6 -70.2 -98.8 -124.2 

CGU Education 
Cover / Impairment sensitivity WACC
Euro / million 7.78% 8.28% 8.78% 9.28% 9.78%

G RATE 0.0% 5.8 3.9 2.1 0.6 -0.8 
0.50% 7.6 5.4 3.4 1.7 0.2
1.00% 9.5 7.1 4.9 3.0 1.3
1.90% 13.9 10.8 8.1 5.7 3.7
2.00% 14.5 11.3 8.5 6.1 4.0
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The impairment test models and related results were approved by the Board of Directors of TeamSystem S.r.l. on 
29 March 2013.  

 
4 EQUITY INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES 
 

 
 

 
 
5 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

 
 
The deferred tax asset recorded by the Group companies mainly relates to the provision for doubtful accounts, the 
provision for agents' indemnity and other provisions for risks and/or provisions disallowed for tax purposes; these 
tax assets are not subject to any time maturity/expiration. The change since prior year is essentially attributable to 
the writedown of the deferred tax asset of Euro 6,794 thousand, recorded in prior years by TeamSystem S.r.l. and 
relating to a portion of interest expenses temporarily non-deductible in the year it is incurred pursuant to Art. 96, 
paragraph 4 of the Italian tax law. The write-down of this asset and the non-recognition of a deferred tax asset 
pertaining to the portion theoretically accruing in the year is due to the expected lengthening of the timing of the 
recoverability thereof, as indicated by forecasts included in the Business Plan of TeamSystem S.r.l.. 
 
With respect to the deferred tax liabilities, reference should be made to the following tables. 

CGU CAD/CAM
Cover / Impairment sensitivity WACC
Euro / million 8.78% 9.28% 9.78% 10.28% 10.78%

G RATE 0.0% 5.0 4.2 3.5 2.9 2.3
0.50% 5.7 4.8 4.0 3.3 2.7
1.00% 6.5 5.5 4.6 3.8 3.1
1.90% 8.1 6.9 5.8 4.9 4.1
2.00% 8.3 7.0 6.0 5.0 4.2

Change in Other
EQUIY INVESTMENTS - OTHER 31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2011

Other investments 111 266  (66) 25 336 

Total 111 266  (66) 25 0 336 

Change in Other
EQUIY INVESTMENTS - OTHER 31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2012

0 
Other investments 336 3  (20) 320 

0 
Total 336 0 0 3  (20) 320 

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Deferred tax assets 1,414 8,049  (6,634) -82.4%

Deferred tax liabilities 77,985 83,093  (5,108) -6.1%
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The main decrease in the deferred tax liability that took place in 2012 relates to an amount of some  
Euro 4,635 thousand concerning the reversal of the deferred tax component pertaining to the amortisation of 
intangible assets (software, brands, customer relationships and other IFRS assets) identified on allocation of the 
price paid for the acquisition of TeamSystem Group.  
 
Considering that all companies belonging to the TeamSystem Group are located in Italy, the only actual 
significant difference between effective and nominal tax rate relates to the above described write off of deferred 
tax assets on interest expenses.  
 
Overall, changes in the deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability had a negative impact on the consolidated 
income statement of Euro 1,950 thousand and a positive impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income of Euro 386 thousand. 
  

Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2011

Fair value valuation of Lands and Buildings 1,548  (49) 1,499 
Intangibles of TS 88,798  (4,803)  (9,198) 74,796 
Staff leaving indemnity - actuary valuation 170 11 181 
Investments revaluation 244 244 

Total TeamSystem Italy 90,759 0  (4,803) 11  (9,247) 76,720 

Deferred tax liabilities of subsidiaries 26  (13) 13 
Total other subsidiaries 26 0 0 0  (13) 13 

Staff leaving indemnity - actuary valuation 138 17 49  (3) 200 
Intangibles of Euroconference 1,705  (86) 1,619 
Euroconference - Services in progress 384 400  (384) 400 
Finance lease and valuation of assets at fair valu 808 37  (16) 828 
Investment revaluation in TS  (244)  (244)
Metodo - Intangibles 1,888  (361) 1,527 
 Nuovamacut - Intangibles 2,056  (190) 1,866 
Development expenses 152 72  (61) 164 

Totalconsolidation entries 6,887 17 0 557  (1,102) 6,360 

Total 97,673 17  (4,803) 569  (10,362) 83,092 

Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Disposals) 31/12/2012

Fair value valuation of Lands and Buildings 1,499  (49) 1,450 
Intangibles of TS 74,796  (3,998) 70,798 
Staff leaving indemnity - actuary valuation 181 18 3  (152) 51 
Investments revaluation 244 244 

Total TeamSystem Italy 76,720 0 18 3  (4,199) 72,543 

Deferred tax liabilities of subsidiaries 13 40 46  (52) 47 
Total other subsidiaries 13 0 40 46  (52) 47 

Staff leaving indemnity - actuary valuation 200 8  (18) 48  (217) 21 
Intangibles of Euroconference 1,619  (86) 1,533 
Euroconference - Services in progress 400 218  (400) 218 
Finance lease and valuation of assets at fair valu 828 6  (17) 818 
Investment revaluation in TS  (244)  (244)
Metodo - Intangibles 1,527  (361) 1,166 
 Nuovamacut - Intangibles 1,866  (190) 1,675 
Development expenses 164  (43) 168  (81) 208 

Totalconsolidation entries 6,360 8  (61) 440  (1,352) 5,395 

Total 83,092 8  (3) 489  (5,603) 77,985 

Commentare adeguatamente ......
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6 INVENTORIES 
 

 
 
The closing inventory of finished products and goods includes hardware products not yet delivered at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date, as well as consumables, accessories, third party software 
modules and licences for resale, characterised by a high turnover.  
 
7 TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 
The “Trade receivables” balance is comprised as follows: 
 

 
 
Trade receivables amount in total to Euro 49,853 thousand, gross of the provision for doubtful accounts. 
 

 
 

 
 
The increase in the provision for doubtful accounts is to take account of the expected realisable value of 
receivables not yet collected at 31 December 2012. The utilisations of the provision are due to the write off of 
receivables, based on elements of certainty and precision, or based on ongoing insolvency proceedings. 
 
8 TAX RECEIVABLES 
 
The “Tax receivables” balance is comprised as follows: 
 

 
 
“Income tax receivable” mainly relates to an amount receivable by the Group companies concerning non-
recurring income from a reimbursement of IRES (Italian corporate income tax) due to the failure to make an IRAP 
(Italian regional tax on productive activities) deduction (Euro 1,392 thousand) with respect to prior years. This 
income originates from a law introduced in 2012. 
 
  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Raw and ancillary materials 154 48 106 n.s.
Finished products and goods 1,207 1,484  (278) -18.7%
Advances 71  (71) -100.0%
(Allowance for slow-moving  inventory)  (27)  (52) 25 -48.1%

Total 1,334 1,552  (218) -14.1%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Trade receivables 49,853 49,761 92 0.2%
(Allowance for doubtful receivables)  (3,387)  (2,876)  (511) 17.8%

Total 46,466 46,885  (419) -0.9%

Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Utilisations) 31/12/2011

Allowance for doubtful debts 2,763 73 1,223  (1,183) 2,876 
0 

Total 2,763 73 0 1,223  (1,183) 2,876 

Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Utilisations) 31/12/2012

Allowance for doubtful debts 2,876 2 1,680  (1,171) 3,387 

Total 2,876 2 0 1,680  (1,171) 3,387 

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

VAT receivables 471 58 413 n.s.
Income taxes receivable 2,029 1,755 274 15.6%
Other tax receivables 499 246 253 n.s.

Total 2,999 2,059 940 45.6%



 
 TeamSystem Holdco Group 
 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 Page 38 

 
 

9 OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 
 
“Other receivables” consist of an amount of some Euro 157 thousand due to TeamSystem S.r.l., following the 
temporary suspension of the payment of contributions decided by the Italian government in connection with the 
earthquake that damaged the ancillary establishments in Campobasso and Fabriano in prior years (see also  
Note 15). 
 
Prepayments mainly relate to the portion of costs of software subscriptions (pertaining essentially to Nuovamacut 
Group Companies) attributable to future financial years on the basis of the contractual duration. The deferred 
income arising from the same accounting treatment adopted for the corresponding income is disclosed in Note 17. 
 
10 NET FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS (NET OF DEBT OWED TO SHAREHOLDERS) 
 
Net consolidated financial indebtedness at 31 December 2012, with the exception of debt owed to shareholders 
(Note 11), is set out as follows and shows a total amount in line with 31 December 2011. 
 

 
 
Cash and bank accounts al 31 December 2012 amounted to Euro 20,058 thousand (Euro 13,826 thousand at 
31 December 2011). 
  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Deposits 315 246 70 28.4%
Receivables from employees 51 47 5 9.9%
Other receivables 616 414 202 48.8%
Accrued income 13 12 1 12.5%
Prepayments 5,722 5,401 322 6.0%

Total 6,718 6,119 600 9.8%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Bank accounts and post office 19,945 19,945 15,347 15,347 
Cash and bank balances 113 113 240 240 
Total Cash and cash equivalents 20,058 0 20,058 15,587 0 15,587 

Derivative instruments - Non current 3 3 0 79 79 
Other financial assets 40 123 163 415 548 963 
Total -Other financial assets 43 123 166 415 627 1,042 

Overdrafts and loans from banks  (13,495)  (167,514)  (181,009)  (12,806)  (165,315)  (178,121)
Finance lease liabilities 0  (223)  (223)
Other borrowings  (48)  (48) 0 
Mezzanine Facility agreement  (1,662)  (60,947)  (62,609)  (1,758)  (58,554)  (60,312)
PIK Preferences Notes  (1,181)  (45,714)  (46,895)  (1,069)  (41,398)  (42,468)

Total financial liabilities - Gross  (16,386)  (274,175)  (290,561)  (15,856)  (265,268)  (281,124)

Financing fees with banks 10,011 10,011 11,438 11,438 
Financing fees - Mezzanine 2,306 2,306 2,647 2,647 
Financing fees - PIK 1,549 1,549 1,749 1,749 
 Financing fees - Prepayments 806 806 1,983 1,983 

Net  financing fees 0 14,672 14,672 0 17,817 17,817 

 (16,386)  (259,503)  (275,890)  (15,856)  (247,451)  (263,306)

Vendor loan e put option  (3,904)  (11,610)  (15,515)  (1,420)  (15,636)  (17,056)
Derivative instruments - Non current  (2,758)  (2,758)  (6)  (2,740)  (2,746)
Other financial liabilities  (1)  (1) 0 

Total - Other financial liabilities   (6,663)  (11,610)  (18,273)  (1,426)  (18,376)  (19,802)

Total  (2,948)  (270,991)  (273,938)  (1,281)  (265,199)  (266,480)

Total financial liabilities, net of Financing fee 
prepayments
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At 31 December 2012 the market value of option contracts on interest rates held for trading by the Group is  
Euro 3 thousand and is included in “Other current financial assets”. 
At 31 December 2011 the amounts due to banks relate essentially to loans from the bank, Unicredit, obtained by 
TeamSystem S.r.l. for a total of Euro 180,823 thousand (comprising interest accrued at that date of some  
Euro 83 thousand) relating to the financing facilities “Facility A” (Euro 62.2 million), “Facility B”  
(Euro 100 million) and “Acquisition Facility” (Euro 18.5 million). For all the lending facilities, the interest rates 
applied are equal to EURIBOR (corresponding to the interest period duration decided from time to time) increased 
by a spread determined periodically in relation to the outcome of certain economic-financial parameters. At the 
statement of financial position date, the variable spread was 4% for Facility A and for the Acquisition Facility and 
4.5% for Facility B. Facility A is repayable in six monthly instalments as from June 2011. Facility B is repayable 
in one instalment on the contractual maturity of the loan in September 2017. The “Acquisition” facility is 
repayable in six monthly instalments as from June 2014. It should be noted that, for the measurement of financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, financing fees due to banks represent pro-rata temporis amortisation of ancillary costs 
incurred to obtain financing, whereas prepaid financing fees represent the amount of ancillary charges relating to 
financing facilities not yet used, but for which it is believed that they will be used in the following financial year. 
 
Set out below are the movements (solely of the capital elements) in the aforementioned Unicredit facilities during 
the course of 2012: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Facility A, Facility B and the Acquisition facility are secured by pledges over the quotas/shares of  
TeamSystem S.r.l. and the subsidiary Group Euroconference Spa, by pledges over trade receivables, over brands, 
as well as a special lien over fixed assets and inventory of TeamSystem S.r.l.. 
 
Furthermore, on a quarterly/annual basis, a check is made of compliance with certain covenants linked to the 
following ratios and components of the consolidated financial statements (as specified by the terms of the loan 
agreements): 

1) ratio of “Cash-Flow” to “Debt Service”; 
2) ratio of “Financial Charges” to “EBITDA”; 
3) ratio of “Senior Net Debt” to “EBITDA”; 
4) ratio of “Total Net Debt” to “EBITDA”; 
5) level of capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets and intangible assets “Capex”. 

 
The Group's financial projections do not indicate any critical issues concerning its ability to generate sufficient 
cash flow in 2013 to meet its contractual commitments. Regular and systematic historical and prospective 
analyses of contractual financial covenants are performed; from the computation prepared by Group for 2012, the 
contractual financial parameters have been complied with, whereas, with respect to 2013 forecasts, it is reasonable 
to believe that the objective of compliance with these conditions will be met. Moreover, it should be noted that the 
Group is undergoing a process of refinancing in order to have, on one hand, greater financial flexibility and, on 
the other, to be in a better position to support medium-long term development projects. 
 
The Mezzanine facility agreement was arranged by Intermediate Capital Group Plc for an amount of  
Euro 56,250 thousand, issued in 2010, with a maturity date on 29 September 2019 and bearing interest at an 
annual rate of 10% plus six-month Euribor.   

(Reimbursement) New draught
31/12/2010 31/12/2011

Facility A 77,800  (4,668) 73,132 
Facility B 100,000 100,000 
Facility Acquisition 3,000 3,000 

Totale 177,800  (4,668) 3,000 176,132 

(Reimbursement) New draught
31/12/2011 31/12/2012

Facility A 73,132  (10,892) 62,240 
Facility B 100,000 100,000 
Facility Acquisition 3,000 15,500 18,500 

Totale 176,132  (10,892) 15,500 180,740 
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As at 31 December 2012, the capitalized interest amounts to Euro 4,696 thousand, the interest becoming due 
within one year amounts to Euro 1,662 thousand and the interest charged over the financial year amounts to 
Euro 6,731 thousand. 
 
The mezzanine is subject to the compliance of certain financial covenants. Covenants ratios are substantially in 
line with the one for the facility and have been met in March, June, September and December 2012. 
 
The PIK Preference Notes issued by Intermediate Capital Group have an aggregate par value of  
Euro 37,500 thousand, issued on 29 September 2010, with a maturity date on 29 September 2020 and bearing 
interest at an annual rate of 10%. As at 31 December 2012, the capitalized interest amounts to  
Euro 8,214 thousand, the interest becoming due within one year amounts to Euro 1,181 thousand, net of the 
related financing fee impact, and the interest charged to the group over the financial year amounts to  
Euro 4,427 thousand.  
 
The Vendor Loan (Euro 15,515 thousand at 31 December 2012 and Euro 17,056 at 31 December 2011) relates to 
put / call options and / or earn-outs due to minority shareholders / quotaholders in Metodo Spa, Lexteam Srl, 
Inforyou Srl, Gruppo Euroconference Spa, I.S.P. Srl, TeamSystem Communication Srl, TeamSystem Akron Srl, 
Danea Soft Srl, H-UMUS Srl, Digita Srl e di Education Team Srl.  
 
As already explained in “Basis of consolidation” paragraph, TeamSystem Group, normally at the same time as the 
acquisition of controlling stakes in an investee, enters into put and call option agreements for the residual stake 
held by non-controlling owners of the acquiree. For those cases, where part of the acquisition takes place through 
the stipulation of a binding option agreement, with the simultaneous presence of put and call clauses, the investee 
is consolidated and the estimated value of the exercise price of the put / call is included in the cost of acquisition 
and contributes to the overall determination of goodwill; a debt towards minorities (the above called “vendor 
loan”) is accounted for, subject to fair value measurement and subsequent changes. 
 
Concerning the 2012 acquisitions (Digita Srl, Education Team and H-Umus Srl) it should be noted that the 
measurement of goodwill has been considered as a provisional measurement (according to IFRS 3); consequently, 
the related vendor loans represent the today best estimates and can be subject to changes. 
 
Lastly, it should be noted that, with reference to the allocation of the definitive “Goodwill” pertinent to the 
acquisition of Danea Srl, the allocation made provisionally in the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2011 has been confirmed without the need for restatement of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2011, whereas the change in fair value of the vendor loan payable pertaining to that 
acquisition has been expensed in the year (Euro 839 thousand approximately) as it originated from 
decisions/measurement based on elements subsequent to the acquisition date. 
 
Other financial liabilities at 31 December 2012 include Interest Rate Swap derivatives at market value of 
Euro 2,758 thousand. These derivative contracts were entered into by TeamSystem S.r.l. and do not qualify as 
hedging for the purposes of IFRS. 
 
11 DEBT OWED TO SHAREHOLDERS 

The Company issued Preferred Equity Certificates (Pecs), which can be detailed as follows: 
- 298,740,342 Pecs having an aggregate par value of Euro 298,740 thousand, issued on 29 September 2010, 

with a maturity date on 29 September 2040 and bearing interest at an annual rate of 12%. 
- 18,959,000 Pecs having an aggregate par value of Euro 18,959 thousand, issued on 1 October 2010, with a 

maturity date on 1 October 2040 and bearing interest at an annual rate of 12%. 
- 396,000 Pecs an aggregate par value of Euro 396 thousand, issued on 31 May 2011, with a maturity date on 

29 September 2040 and bearing interest at an annual rate of 12%. 
 
As at 31December 2012, the capitalized interest amounts to Euro 82,303 thousand, the interest due under the loans 
becoming due within one year amounts to Euro 12,412 thousand and the interest charged to the Company over the 
year amounts to Euro 44,900 thousand. 
The Pecs have been issued by the Parent Company to the shareholders and are subordinated to all other liabilities 
of the Group. In addition, the Company may elect to postpone the payment of the accrued interests up to maturity 
date if no sufficient funds are available.  
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12 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

As at 31 December 2012, the Parent Company’s subscribed capital amounted to Euro 3,667 thousand represented 
by 366,709 class A shares, 366,709 class B shares, 366,713 class C shares, 366,716 class D shares, 366,717 class 
E shares, 366,718 class F shares, 366,720 class G shares, 366,726 class H shares, 366.728 class I shares, and 
366,730 class J shares with a nominal value of Euro each. 

“Other income (expenses) net of the tax effect” relate primarily to the recognition of actuarial differences in 
accordance with the new standard “IAS 19 revised”. The early application thereof had a negative effect on 
comprehensive income of Euro 1,018 thousand (net of the total related tax effect of Euro 386 thousand). There 
was no significant effect on the related opening balances. 
 
The line labelled “Transactions with non-controlling interests” shows the change in equity pertaining to the Group 
(and that pertaining to non-controlling interest) as a consequence of the decrease in the non-controlling interest 
following the acquisition of further stakes by Group companies, also by means of the stipulation of agreements for 
put and call options on the shares/quotas not yet held. In particular, in the 2012 financial year the acquisition of a 
further 19.46% holding in Nuovamacut Nord Ovest srl led to a decrease in “retained earnings arising on 
consolidation” of some Euro 31 thousand and a decrease of some Euro 243 thousand in non-controlling interest; 
the acquisition of a further 7.5% holding in Nuovamacut Nord Est srl led to a decrease in “retained earnings 
arising on consolidation” of some Euro 31 thousand and a decrease of some Euro 20 thousand in non-controlling 
interest. 
 
On 30 September 2010 the Parent Company issued 245,944 warrants to some of the shareholders that would allow 
them to convert them into an equal amount of shares at a fixed price. No warrants were excercised as at 
31 December 2012. 
 
13 EMPLOYEE TERMINATION INDEMNITIES 
 

 
 

 
 
In accordance with IAS 19, employee termination indemnities are considered to be a defined benefit plan to be 
accounted for by applying the “Projected Unit Credit Method,” which consists of discounting an estimate of the 
amount to be paid to each employee on termination of their employment and which involves the determination of: 
- initial DBO, that is, the present value of employee service payments expected to be made in the future, 

already available at the beginning of the period; 
- service cost, that is, the present value of employee service expected to be made in the future relating to 

services provided in the current period; 
- interest cost, namely, interest on the provision at the beginning of the period and on corresponding 

movements in the period being considered; 
- benefits paid and transfers in/out represent all payments and transfers in and out relating to the period 

being considered, being elements that lead to the utilisation of the provision; 
- the actuarial gain and loss, namely, the actuarial gain/loss relating to the valuation period. 
 
The estimate, performed by an independent actuary, was computed on the basis of the following assumptions: 
 

  
  

31/12/2010 Change in 
consolidation 

area

Other 
movements

Service cost Interest cost Actuarial (gain) 
/loss

(Benefits paid) 31/12/2011

Employee termination indemnity 6,382 308 651 287  (122)  (498) 7,008 

Total 6,382 308 0 651 287  (122)  (498) 7,008 

31/12/2011 Change in 
consolidation 

area

Other 
movements

Service cost Interest cost Actuarial (gain) 
/loss

(Benefits paid) 31/12/2012

Employee termination indemnity 7,008 179  (11) 677 312 1,405  (654) 8,916 

Total 7,008 179  (11) 677 312 1,405  (654) 8,916 

Financial year 
2012

Financial year 
2011

Turnover 4.00% 4.00%
Discount rate 3,2% 4,6%
Advance rate 1.00% 1.00%



 
 TeamSystem Holdco Group 
 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 Page 42 

 
 

The discount rate used for the determination of the present value of the provision for severance indemnities was 
determined with reference to the IBoxx Corporate A index for December 2012, whereas the discount rate used for 
the determination of the liability at 31 December 2011 was determined with reference to the IBoxx Eurozone 
Corporate AA index. It should be noted that if the Company had not changed the criteria for estimating the 
provision for severance indemnities and had it adopted the same discount rates applied for the measurement of 
severance indemnities at 31 December 2011, the amount of the liability would have been some Euro 559 thousand 
higher. 
 
Furthermore, it should be noted that, should the annual discount rate vary by plus or minus 1/4%, the provision for 
severance indemnities would be some Euro 8,656 thousand and Euro 9,189 thousand, respectively. 
 
As described in the section relating to accounting standards, the amendment to IAS 19 - Employee benefits, 
eliminates the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses under the "corridor" method and 
requires the entire deficit or surplus to be recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
separate recognition in the consolidated income statement of service cost and net interest, while actuarial gains 
and losses arising from "remeasurement" each year of assets and liabilities are required to be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Consequently, the change included in the 2012 statement of 
comprehensive income (Euro 1,018 thousand) equates to the actuarial gain and loss (Euro 1,405 thousand) as 
indicated above, net of the tax effect of Euro 386 thousand.  
 
If (in compliance with IAS 1, following the early application of IAS 19 as just commented upon) the Group had 
restated the 2011consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Group's 
results for the financial year would have been negatively impacted by some Euro 88 thousand (net of the tax 
effect), whereas the comprehensive result would have remained unchanged and neither would there have been any 
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position. Consequently, considering the absolute immateriality 
of the amounts in question, the Group did not restate the consolidated income statement and consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the 2011 financial year. 
 
14 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 

 
 

 
 
The “Provision for pensions and similar obligations” amounts to Euro 937 thousand at 31 December 2012 and 
mainly relates to the Provision for agents' indemnity.  
 
The Provision for risks for litigation at 31 December 2012 amounts to Euro 614 thousand and mainly refers to 
some tax arguments within preliminay report issued by the Italian Tax Authority in relation to the Company. 
Despite of this, TeamSystem Holdco Group is not party to any other significant litigation or disputes. 
 
15 OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Other non current liabilities” amount to Euro 949 thousand at 31 December 2012 (Euro 1,012 thousand at 
31 December 2011) and essentially relate to TeamSystem S.r.l balances: 
- Euro 95 thousand relating to income tax, VAT and other taxes of TeamSystem Fabriano Srl, merged by 

absortion into TeamSystem Srl in 2001 ; 
- Euro 854 thousand relating to social contributions of which Euro 827 thousand relates to the ancillary 

establishment in Campobasso and Euro 27 thousand relates to the ancillary establishment in Fabriano. 
  

Change in Other
31/12/2010 consolidation area movements Additions (Utilisations) 31/12/2011

Provision for pension and similar obligations 975 279 84  (290) 1,048 
Provision for litigations 628 149  (15) 763 
Other provision for risks and charges 302 2 65  (254) 115 

Total 1,906 280 0 298  (559) 1,926 

Change in Other
31/12/2011 consolidation area movements Additions (Utilisations) 31/12/2012

Provision for pension and similar obligations 1,048 3 114  (229) 937 
Provision for litigations 763 27 4  (179) 614 
Other provision for risks and charges 115 189  (3) 97  (93) 304 

Total 1,926 215 0 214  (501) 1,855 
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It should be noted that Italian Legislative Decree 61/2008 (ratified by Law 103/2008) and Italian Legislative 
Decree 62/2008 (ratified by Law 201/2008) have provided for the payment, at an amount reduced by 40%, 
without any additional penalties and interest, by means of 120 monthly instalments, of taxation and contributions 
suspended as a result of regulatory provisions for areas hit by the earthquake of 1997 (Marche and Umbria). 
 
16 CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 
 

 
 
“Other tax liabilities” almost entirely relate to substitute tax payable originated in TeamSystem S.r.l., whose 
payment is divided by instalments, due to the effect of the step-up of the tax basis (during 2011) of the asset 
“TeamSystem Software” resulting from the allocation of the purchase price for the acquisition of TeamSystem 
Group by the private equity firm HG Capital. 
 
17 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

 
 
"Employee payables” of Euro 6,403 thousand relate to remuneration and 2012 performance bonuses (not yet paid 
at the year end) payable to employees, directors and collaborators, as well as accruals for holiday pay and leave of 
absence. It should be noted that there are no employee bonuses due beyond one year worthy of mention. 
 
“Advances” at 31 December 2012 amount to Euro 3,004 thousand and mainly relate to advances received by the 
“Education” SBU for to training services being provided at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 
 
“Deferred revenues” (Euro 8,783 thousand) mainly relates to the portion of revenues for software subscriptions 
(pertaining essentially to Nuovamacut Group companies) attributable to future financial years, based upon the 
contract duration. 
 
18 REVENUES 
 

 
 
In 2012 Group's revenues grew significantly compared to 2011. Revenues recorded an increase of some 
Euro 9,256 thousand (with growth of some 6.5%). This growth is partly attributable to the contribution made by 
the newly consolidated companies in 2012, that is, Digita Srl, Education Team Srl, Paradigma Srl, Optime Srl and, 
lastly, Danea Srl (only the balance sheet of the latter was consolidated at 31 December 2011). 
 
It should be noted that almost all of Group's revenues and activities relate to Italy, where almost all its operations 
are concentrated. The fragmentation of customers, which is typical of the sectors in which the Group operates, 
impedes any significant dependence on individual customers.  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

VAT liabilities 203 176 26 14.80%
Income tax payables 1,051 381 669 n.s.
Liabilities resulting from tax consolidation 10 12  (2) -18.37%
Witholdings 1,906 1,827 78 4.3%
Other tax liabilities 1,515 3,425  (1,910) -55.8%

Total 4,684 5,822  (1,138) -19.5%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Due to social securities 3,364 3,109 255 8.2%
Employee payables 6,403 5,720 683 11.9%
Advances 3,004 3,555  (552) -15.5%
Other liabilities 608 481 126 26.2%
Accrued income 291 362  (71) -19.7%
Deferred revenues 8,783 7,830 953 12.2%

Total 22,452 21,057 1,395 6.6%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Sales and subscriptions of hardware 7,576 8,829  (1,253) -14.2%
Sales and subscriptions of software 109,696 100,056 9,640 9.6%
Sales of other products 1,714 1,654 60 3.6%
Sales of other services 18,068 19,073  (1,004) -5.3%
Education 13,715 11,902 1,813 15.2%

150,769 141,513 9,256 6.5%
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19 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
 

 
 
20 CONSUMPTION OF RAW AND OTHER MATERIALS 
 

 
 
The cost of “Consumption of raw and other materials” mainly relates to the cost of sales of hardware, third party 
software and manuals. 
 
21 COST OF SERVICES 
 

 
 
“Other services” mainly comprise: 
a)  costs (incurred by TeamSystem S.r.l.) of some Euro 564 thousand relating to the activation and/or the 

provision of services such as TeamSystem Electronic Services, tax return assistance etc.; 
b)  costs for shipping and transport of Euro 1,333 thousand; 
c)  costs for reimbursement of expenses of Euro 1,789 thousand; 
d)  insurance costs of Euro 233 thousand; 
e)  repairs and maintenance costs of Euro 368 thousand. 
 
Mainly as a result of the project for renewal of “PROTEO 360” software (as previously commented upon in 
Note 2 to these consolidated financial statements) Teamsystem S.r.l. engaged resorted to external resources (in 
addition to its own employed staff) to assist with this completion of the project. The related expenditure (some 
Euro 1,264 thousand) has been reversed from operating costs and has been capitalised. 

 
 
  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Credit notes and expenses reimbursments 948 852 96 11.2%
Other revenues 629 187 442 n.s.

Total 1,577 1,040 538 51.7%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

HW purchases 4,692 5,400  (708) -13.1%
Third parties' SW for resale 10,744 10,854  (111) -1.0%
Handbooks and forms 192 214  (22) -10.4%
Materials for education 497 459 38 8.3%
Fuel 1,167 969 198 20.4%
Other materials 909 928  (19) -2.1%
Change in inventory of raw materials and consum 134 60 75 n.s.

Total 18,334 18,883  (549) -2.9%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Agents commissions and other costs 3,372 3,040 331 10.9%
Consulting and third parties services 7,591 5,662 1,929 34.1%
Administrative, tax and legal expenses 1,411 1,458  (47) -3.2%
Education -  Consulting and copyrights 3,388 2,528 861 34.1%
Magazine consulting, copyrights and other costs 711 690 21 3.0%
Other costs for education services 1,170 1,276  (106) -8.3%
Advertising and marketing 2,480 1,655 825 49.8%
Car rentals 1,964 1,851 113 6.1%
Consumptions 1,921 1,804 117 6.5%
Other services 6,024 5,622 402 7.1%
Services capitalised as development expenses  (1,264)  (1,264) 0.0%

Total 28,767 25,586 3,181 12.4%
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22 PERSONNEL COST 
 

 
 
With respect to the cost of employee termination indemnities, reference should be made to Note 13 thereon.  
 
23 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES  
 

 
 
The growth in “Other operating costs” since the prior financial year is basically due to the growth in costs for 
“Rent” (Euro 309 thousand) consequent to changes in the scope of consolidation. 
 
24 NON-RECURRING EXPENSES 
 
Net non-recurring expenses for the year ended 31 December 2012 amount to Euro 3,777 thousand  
(Euro 3,146 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2011) and relate to tax and legal advice and other sundry 
expenses, the nature of which is deemed to be non-recurring with respect to the business's normal operations. In 
particular, these costs include advisory costs incurred for acquisitions of equity investments (Euro 1,408 thousand) 
and management consulting (Euro 1,345 thousand) performed by leading international consulting firms aimed at 
the improvement of commercial performance and the quality of the Group's product range as well as the 
improvement of the efficiency of business processes (project Blue Print). 
 
25 ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES and OTHER RISK PROVISIONS 
 
This reflects accruals made to the provision for doubtful accounts and the provision for risks (Euro 1,905 thousand 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and Euro 1,750 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2011).  
 
26 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
This exclusively reflects the writedown of Euro 75 million of part of the carrying value of Goodwill as a result of 
the outcome of impairment tests (see note 3 to the consolidated financial statements). 
 
27 FINANCE INCOME 
 
“Finance income” is comprised of the following: 
 

 
  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Wages 34,375 30,815 3,560 11.6%
Social securities 10,108 9,071 1,036 11.4%
Employee termination indemnities 1,899 1,664 235 14.1%
Other personnel expenses 40 32 9 27.4%
Total personnel expenses 46,422 41,581 4,841 11.6%

Freelancers and collaborators fees 846 830 16 1.9%
Directors' fees and related costs 3,509 3,318 191 5.8%
Personnel capitalised as development costs  (3,004)  (2,294)  (710) 31.0%

Total 47,773 43,436 4,337 10.0%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Rents 2,031 1,723 308 17.9%
Rentals 373 235 138 59.0%
Other expenses for use of third parties assets 29 34  (5) -15.0%
Other taxes 206 149 57 38.6%
Losses from assets disposals 8 27  (19) -69.5%
Other expenses 300 245 56 22.8%

Total 2,948 2,412 536 22.2%

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Interests and other finance income 2,503 1,921 582 30.3%
Interest from banks 210 224  (14) -6.3%
MTM valuation of derivative instruments 1,754  (1,754) -100.0%

Total 2,713 3,899  (1,186) -30.4%
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“Interest and other finance income” includes income of Euro 2,376 thousand relating to a decrease in the 
estimated vendor loan payable, due to changes in fair-value in the year. 
 
28 FINANCE COST 
 
“Finance cost” are comprised of the following: 
 

 
 
“Interest on other loans” comprises interest on Mezzanine Facility of Euro 6,731 thousand, interest on PIK 
preference notes of Euro 4,427 thousand. 
 
An amount of Euro 2,024 thousand of “Other IFRS financial charges” relates to the change in the year of the fair 
value of the vendor loan. Of this financial charge, some Euro 587 thousand is due to the payment of dividends to 
third parties. 
 
29 CURRENT TAXES 
 
Current taxes for the 2012 financial year amounts to Euro 8,208 thousand and consists of the following: 
- IRES (Italian corporate income tax) of Euro 4,820 thousand; 
- IRAP (Italian regional tax on productive activities) of Euro 3,381 thousand. 
- Other income taxes of Euro 7 thousand. 
 
It should be noted that the aforementioned IRES amount is stated net of non-recurring income of Euro 1,392 
thousand relating to an IRES refund claim for the failure to deduct labour costs from IRAP. This claim is based on 
Art. 2, paragraph 1, of Legislative Decree 201/2011 (converted into Law no. 214/2011) - “Monti's maneuver” - 
plus Italian Legislative Decree no. 16 of 2/3/2012 (so called tax simplification decree, converted, with 
amendments, by Law no. 44 of 26 April 2012) that has ruled on the possibility to also apply the new provisions 
concerning full deductibility to the prior tax years 2007-2011. 
 
With respect to the amount of deferred tax recorded in the consolidated income statement, reference should be 
made to details provided in Note 5. 
 
30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND IFRS 7 
 
The Group Companies are exposed to a variety of risks of a financial nature that are managed and monitored 
centrally and which can be categorised as follows: 
 
Foreign exchange risks 
The Group Companies operate almost exclusively in Italy and, accordingly, are not exposed to foreign exchange 
risks. 
 
Credit risk 
The credit risk is substantially reduced by the high fragmentation of the customer base and the high degree of 
customer loyalty. Moreover, accurate procedures for the control of overdue balances limit doubtful balances to 
insignificant amounts. 
 
  

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Net change Net change - %

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 10,773 11,242  (469) -4.2%
Interest on shareholders' loans (PEC) 44,900 39,874 5,026 12.6%
Interest on other loans (Mezzanine and PIK) 11,158 10,690 469 4.4%
Interest on derivative instruments 1,875 2,607  (732) -28.1%
Amortization - financing fees on other loans 2,604 2,597 7 0.3%
Amortization - financing fees on Mezzanine and Pik 542 542 0 0.0%
Bank commission 1,340 1,452  (112) -7.7%
Loss resulting from MTM derivatives valuation 94 2,321  (2,227) -96.0%
Interest from actuary valuation of employee benefits 332 310 21 6.9%
Other IFRS financial charges 2,792 800 1,992 n.s.
Other financial charges 358 371  (13) -3.5%
Impairment of other equity investments 20 0 20 0.0%

76,788 72,805 3,982 5.5%
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In any case, the customer credit policy, by customer category (resellers and end-users), envisages: 
a) the control and assessment of “credit standing”; 
b) the control of the flow of payment collection; 
c) taking appropriate action by issuing reminders and by the use of credit collection procedures, including 

recourse to companies specialised in debt recovery. 
 

The maximum theoretical exposure to credit risk for the Group Companies is represented by the carrying value of 
trade receivables as presented in the consolidated financial statements, as well as residual financial receivables 
recorded in current and non current financial assets.  
 
As at 31 December 2012 the Group does not have any guarantees covering trade receivables. 
 
The tool used by the Group for the classification and control of trade receivables consists of an Ageing List, in 
which amounts of overdue receivables are summarised by ageing category, from the most recent (0-30 days) to 
the oldest (over 180 days).  
 
With respect to overdue receivables, the writedown recorded in the consolidated financial statements was 
determined based on a specific analysis of doubtful accounts. It should be noted, however, that the Group's 
performance in terms of credit collection is good and losses incurred in the past have been relatively modest. 
 
In consideration of the insignificant credit exposure, no disclosure has been made at 31 December 2012 of past 
due trade receivables by ageing category. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed mainly to interest rate risk, and mainly due to the indebtedness incurred for the purposes of 
the leveraged transaction in 2010, followed by a reverse merger. The floating rate loans, the features of which are 
disclosed in Notes 10 and 11, expose, in fact, the Group companies to the risk of significant changes in cash flow. 
The aim of the management is to limit interest rate risk and stabilise cash outflows due to interest expense on 
existing loans; for this purpose, TeamSystem S.r.l. has entered into interest rate swap contracts, which, even 
though they do not qualify as hedging for the purposes of IFRS, have characteristics that offset in part fluctuations 
in the Euribor rate. 
 
As required by IFRS 7 and in order to measure the impact of the risk of variability of interest rates, TeamSystem 
Group Management has performed specific sensitivity analysis; this sensitivity analysis has been applied to the 
main statement of financial position components that could be subject to changes in carrying value as a result of 
fluctuations in market interest rates. 
In particular, the analysis has taken into consideration the floating rate loans (primarily represented by “Facility 
A”, “Facility B” and the “Acquisition facility”) as well as the derivative financial instruments held by 
TeamSystem S.r.l. and has assumed a fluctuation of 30% upwards and downwards in applicable interest rates. The 
potential effects on income (before income taxes) of this assumed change would be a higher or lower financial 
charge of Euro 360 thousand approximately in the year ended 31 December 2012 (it would have been  
Euro 105 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2011). 
 
It should be noted that the spread applied to Facility A and Facility B also fluctuates based on certain financial 
parameters established by the loan agreement; in particular, the contractual spread may vary by a maximum of 
4.5% to a minimum of 3.5% for “Facility A” and the “Acquisition facility" and by a maximum of 5% to a 
minimum of 4.5% for Facility B, based on the financial covenants (see also disclosures made in Note 10). The 
aforementioned sensitivity analysis was conducted assuming the maintenance of current levels of spread (4% for 
Facility A and Acquisition and 4.5% for Facility B); the change in the Group's performance consequently reflects 
an interest rate risk with variability that is additional to the interest related to the debt. 
 
Liquidity risk 
The two main factors that determine the dynamics of the Group's liquidity are, on one hand, the resources 
generated/absorbed by operating and investment activities and, on the other hand, the maturity and renewal of 
financial liabilities. Management of these risks is done by the Finance Department of TeamSystem S.r.l.. 
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Of the procedures adopted with the intention of optimising cash flow management and of reducing the liquidity 
risk, the following should be noted: 
- the maintenance of an adequate level of available liquidity;  
- the adoption of Cash-pooling at Group level; 
- the obtainment of adequate borrowing facilities; 
- the control of prospective liquidity conditions, in relation to the corporate planning process, also with 

reference to the verification of compliance with covenants. 
 
The Group's financial projections do not indicate any critical issues concerning its ability to generate sufficient 
cash flow in 2013 to meet its contractual commitments. Regular and systematic historical and prospective 
analyses of contractual financial covenants are performed; from the computation prepared by Management for 
2012, the contractual financial parameters have been complied with, whereas, with respect to 2013 forecasts, it is 
reasonable to believe that the objective of compliance with these conditions will be met. Moreover, it should be 
noted that the Group is undergoing a process of refinancing in order to have, on one hand, greater financial 
flexibility and, on the other, to be in a better position to support medium-long term development projects. 
 
Set out below are details of the Group's financial liabilities analysed according to the related due dates of the 
payment outflows. The flows indicated are non-discounted nominal cash flows, determined with reference to the 
residual contractual maturity for both capital and interest elements for which the assumed interest rates have 
remained unchanged from those existing at 31 December 2012 (both for loans and for interest rate swap 
derivatives at the consolidated statement of financial position date). 
 
Position at 31.12.2011 

 
 
 
Position at 31.12.2012 

 
 
The difference between the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements and total cash flow is 
mainly attributable to the computation of interest over the contractual duration for amounts due to banks or for the 
vendor loan. 
 
Financial instruments by category (IFRS 7 parag. 8) 
As required by IFRS 7, paragraph 8, financial instruments have been identified by category pertaining to Group’s 
assets and liabilities with respect to their classification in the statement of financial position. 
 
  

Carrying amount over Total
31/12/2011 within 12 months 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years 5 years cash flow

Debt owed to shareholders (PEC) 367,912 43,207 42,953 128,978 1,388,532 1,603,669 
Mezzanine 60,312 4,642 4,806 15,640 98,222 123,311 
PIK notes 42,467 101,084 101,084 
Overdrafts and loans from banks 178,121 23,451 21,569 86,952 100,000 231,972 
Overdrafts and loans from other financial institutions 223 227 227 
Derivative instruments 2,746 1,877 2,765 4,642 
Vendor loan 17,056 2,970 3,517 5,543 6,286 18,316 

668,837 76,374 75,610 237,113 1,694,124 2,083,221 

Carrying amount over Total
31/12/2012 within 12 months 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years 5 years cash flow

Debt owed to shareholders (PEC) 412,811 48,448 48,181 144,678 1,509,371 1,750,678 
Mezzanine 62,609 4,033 4,163 13,548 90,594 112,338 
PIK notes 46,895 101,071 101,071 
Overdrafts and loans from banks 181,009 21,681 30,016 160,550 212,247 
Overdrafts and loans from other financial institutions 48 48 48 
Derivative instruments 2,758 2,765 2,765 
Vendor loan 15,515 3,984 633 8,477 6,466 19,560 

721,645 80,959 82,994 327,253 1,707,502 2,198,707 
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Position at 31.12.2011 

 
 
 
Position at 31.12.2012 

 
 
EXPLANATIONS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS’ CATEGORIES 
FVTPL = Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
LAR = Loans and Receivables 
AFS = Financial assets available for sale 
FLAC = Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
HTM = Hold to maturity 
 
Considering the features of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements and shown by 
the above table, the fair value of many of these (current trade receivables and payables, current and non-current 
financial liabilities) do not differ from their carrying value. 
 
Levels of fair value hierarchy 
In relation to the financial instruments recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value, IFRS 7 requires 
these amounts to be classified on the basis of levels of hierarchy that reflect the significance of the input used for 
the determination of fair value. The levels are the following: 
- Level 1 - prices quoted by active markets for assets or liabilities being measured; 
- Level 2 - inputs other than Level 1 inputs that are directly observable (prices) or indirectly (derived from 

prices) market inputs; 
- Level 3 - inputs not based on observable market data.  

 
  

Carrying amount
31/12/2011 FVTPL LAR AFS FLAC HTM

Non-current assets
Equity investments 336 311 25 
Other financial assets 627 627 

Current assets
Trade receivables 46,885 46,885 
Financing fees - Prepayments 1,983 1,983 
Other financial assets 415 415 
Cash and bank balances 15,587 

Non-current liabilites
Debt owed to shareholders 356,949 356,949 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 265,268 265,268 
Financing Fees  (15,292)  (15,292)
Other financial l iabil ities 18,376 18,376 

Current liabilities
Debt owed to shareholders 10,963 10,963 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 15,856 15,856 
Financing Fees  (542)  (542)
Other financial l iabil ities 1,426 1,426 
Trade payables 16,273 16,273 

Carrying amount
31/12/2012 FVTPL LAR AFS FLAC HTM

Non-current assets
Equity investments 320 295 25 
Other financial assets 123 123 

Current assets
Trade receivables 46,466 46,466 
Financing fees - Prepayments 806 806 
Other financial assets 43 3 40 
Cash and bank balances 20,058 

Non-current liabilites
Debt owed to shareholders 400,399 400,399 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 274,175 274,175 
Financing Fees  (13,324)  (13,324)
Other financial l iabil ities 11,610 11,610 

Current liabilities
Debt owed to shareholders 12,412 12,412 
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 16,386 16,386 
Financing Fees  (542)  (542)
Other financial l iabil ities 6,663 6,663 
Trade payables 16,196 16,196 
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Position at 31.12.2011 

 
 
Position at 31.12.2012 

 
 
During the year there have been no significant transfers from one level to another of the fair value categories 
presented. 
 
The financial payable relating to the “vendor loan” represents the main category within the fair value level 3 and 
it’s represented by the fair value of the estimated liability with respect to put and call or earnout agreements 
relating to various non-controlling holdings in the Group companies; the related fair value was determined 
considering the contractual hypotheses for the determination of the consideration. Changes in fair value, due both 
to timing and possible changes in estimated indicators that formed the basis for the computation of the 
consideration, are accounted for in the consolidated income statement; the effect recorded in the 2012 
consolidated income statement resulting from the change in estimate of the fair value of the liability relating to the 
vendor loan amounts to some Euro 352 thousand and some Euro 2,376 thousand has been accounted for as 
“Interest and other income” (see also Note 27 in relation thereto) and some Euro 2,024 thousand as “Other IFRS 
financial charges” (Note 28). 
 
With reference to the impact on the consolidated income statement, a detailed analysis is provided below in 
accordance with parag. 20 of IFRS 7. 
 
  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

Assets

Equity investments in other companies 311 311 
Derivative financial instruments 82 82 
Other financial assets 927 32 959 

927 82 343 1,352 

Liabilities

Vendor Loan 17,056 17,056 
Derivative financial instruments 2,746 2,746 

2,746 17,056 19,802 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

Assets

Equity investments in other companies 295 295 
Derivative financial instruments 3 3 
Other financial assets 40 40 

3 335 338 

Liabilities

Vendor Loan 15,514 15,514 
Derivative financial instruments 2,758 2,758 

2,758 15,514 18,272 
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Position at 31.12.2011 

 
 
Position at 31.12.2012 

 
 
 
31 GUARANTEES PROVIDED, COMMITMENTS AND OTHER CONTINGENT ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES 
 
Guarantees Provided 
 
At 31 December 2012, the quotas of TeamSystem S.r.l. as well as the shares of Gruppo Euroconference Spa were 
pledged as collateral for loans granted to TeamSystem S.r.l. (Note 10). 
 
Other significant commitments and contractual rights 
 
The Group is party to put option agreements in respect of the shares/quotas held by non-controlling share in the 
following companies and for the percentage holdings as indicated below: 

1) Digita Srl, with reference to 40.00% of the quota capital; 
2) Education Team Srl, with reference to 22.50% of the quota capital; 
3) H-Umus Srl, with reference to 15.00% of the quota capital; 
4) TeamSystem Akron Srl, with reference to 49.00% of the quota capital; 

  

FINANCE INCOME FINANCE COST TOTAL IMPACT
IMPACT ON 2011 INCOME STATEMENT

Cash and bank balances 224 224 
Trade receivables 48 48 
Debt owed to shareholders 39,873  (39,873)
Overdrafts and loans to banks and financial institutions 21,932  (21,932)
Financing Fees 2,597  (2,597)
Derivative financial instruments (interests) 3,149  (3,149)
Derivatives financial instruments (fair value) 1,754 2,321  (567)
Finance lease 7  (7)
Provision for employee termination indemnities 310  (310)
Vendor loan ( fair value) 1,843 360 1,483 
Vendor loan (discounting) 433  (433)
Gain/Losses on forex 10 53  (43)
Other l iabil ities (fees and withholding tax) 21 1,718  (1,697)
Other l iabil ities 51  (51)

3,900 72,805  (68,905)

FINANCE INCOME FINANCE COST TOTAL IMPACT
IMPACT ON 2012 INCOME STATEMENT

Cash and bank balances 210 210 
Trade receivables 49 49 
Other financial assets 44 44 
Equity investments 20  (20)
Debt owed to shareholders 44,900  (44,900)
Overdrafts and loans to banks and financial institutions 21,931  (21,931)
Financing Fees 3,146  (3,146)
Derivative financial instruments (interests) 1,875  (1,875)
Derivative financial instruments (fair value) 94  (94)
Finance lease 15  (15)
Provision for employee termination indemnities 332  (332)
Vendor loan (fair value) 2,376 2,025 351 
Vendor loan (discounting) 752  (752)
Gain/Losses on forex 3 3 
Other l iabil ities (fees and withholding tax) 31 1,601  (1,570)
Other l iabil ities 97  (97)

2,713 76,787  (74,074)



 
 TeamSystem Holdco Group 
 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 Page 52 

 
 

5) Danea Srl, with reference to 49.00% of the quota capital; 
6) Gruppo Euroconference Spa, with reference to 0.39% of the share capital; 
7) Inforyou Srl, with reference to 40% of the quota capital; 
8) I.S.P. Srl, with reference to 40% of the quota capital; 
9) Lexteam Srl, with reference to 12.50% of the quota capital; 
10) Metodo Srl, with reference to 10.00% of the quota capital; 
11) TeamSystem Communication Srl, with reference to 40.00% of the quota capital; 

 
The strike price of these options will be determined based on normalised earnings parameters of the companies in 
question to which will be added the average (or actual) net financial indebtedness for the period in which the put 
options may be exercised. The best estimate of discounted future disbursements has been recognised in the 
financial statements (Note 10) while the best estimate of future disbursements (by financial year) is indicated in 
the table shown in Note 30 - Liquidity risk - analysis of financial liabilities by due date of cash outflows. 
 
Operating lease agreements and rental of property 
 
The Group companies are party to operating lease agreements relating mainly to the use of motor cars. At 
31 December 2012 the amount of outstanding instalments for operating leases was some Euro 5.3 million. 
TeamSystem Group's operational premises are mostly leased. At 31 December 2012, the amount of outstanding 
lease instalments was some Euro 7.7 million. 
 

 
 
Other commitments and contingent assets/liabilities 
 
The Group companies, in the performance of their activities, are exposed to a series of legal, tax and other risks. 
These risks relate to ongoing legal disputes (the outcome of which cannot be forecast with certainty) or claims 
made against Group companies for the recovery of damages suffered by third parties. An adverse outcome of 
these proceedings could lead to the payment of costs not covered (or not fully covered) by insurance and would 
thus impact the financial position. 
The Group, in accordance with opinions provided by its legal advisers, has made specific provision as part of the 
provision for risks and charges (Note 14) for litigation for which it is believed that a disbursement of resources is 
probable and for which the amount is capable of being reliably estimated. Based on the information available, 
there are no further potentially significant contingent liabilities that could lead to significant disbursements for the 
Group. 
Neither does the Group have any potentially significant contingent assets at 31 December 2012. 
 
32 MANAGERS AND TOP MANAGEMENT STATUTORY AUDITORS 
 
As required by IAS 24, the table below shows the amounts due for 2012 and 2011 years to the members of the 
Group Executive Committees and in addition those due to the Top Management of the Group. 

 
 
  

over
within 1 year 2 - 4 years 5 years Total

Leases for motor cars 1,940 3,196 166 5,301 
Leases for operational premises 1,979 3,877 1,805 7,662 

3,919 7,073 1,971 12,963 

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Executive Committees Members 368 253 
Top management of TeamSystem Group 2,550 2,241 
Total emoluments 2,918 2,494 
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In detail, compensations due to Top Management includes Euro 91 thousands (Euro 80 thousands at  
31 December 2011) related to Italian T.F.R. allowance of the year. 
 
As already indicated elsewhere in these notes, TeamSystem Group's senior and middle managers have a 24% of 
shares of the Company; as already disclosed, these equity investments have the same characteristics in terms of 
subscription price and risk of other shareholders and there are no differences favouring Teamsystem Group’s 
senior and middle management. 
 
With respect to the statutory auditors, the fees payable to Deloitte Audit and Deloitte network member firms as 
independent auditors for the audit of the 2012 consolidated financial statements amount to approximately  
Euro 158 thousand (of which Euro 147 thousand for audit services and Euro 11 thousand for tax services). 
 
RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, REVENUES AND COSTS WITH PARENT COMPANIES AND OTHER 
RELATED COMPANIES 
 
As referred in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company issued PEC to its shareholders. 
TeamSystem Holdco Group has not been party to any transactions with related companies that are worth 
disclosing, other than those previously commented upon. 
 
33 AVERAGE NUMBER OF GROUP EMPLOYEES 
 
Set out below is a summary of the employees of Group Companies by category. 
 

 
 
34 GOODWILL OF NEW SUBSIDIARIES ACQUIRED IN 2012 
 
The below tables show the detail of the purchase price allocation of new subsidiaries acquired in 2012 (refer to 
Note 3 - Goodwill). 
  

Average2012 Average2011 Change 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change

Executives 18 12 6 21 14 7 
Other employees 925 839 86 974 876 98 

Total 943 851 92 995 890 105 
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Digita Srl -IFRS3 Provisional Goodwill 

 
 
NOTE 1 = actuarial valuation of the provision for termination indemnities at 31 December 2012. 
 
It should be noted that the determination of goodwill relating to Digita Srl is provisional.  
 
  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DIGITA Srl at 01/01/2012
ASSETS 01/01/2012 PPA provisional 01/01/2012 NOTES

adjustments after provisional 
PPA 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 23 23 
Deferred tax assets 46 46 2
Total non-current assets 70 0 70 

Current assets
Trade receivables 153 153 2
Tax receivables 3 3 
Other receivables 5 5 
Cash and bank balances 2 2 
Total current assets 163 0 163 

TOTAL ASSETS 233 0 233 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DIGITA Srl at 01/01/2012
NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 01/01/2012 PPA provisional 01/01/2012 NOTES

adjustments after provisional 
PPA 

TOTAL EQUITY  (80) 3  (78)

Non-current liabilities
Provision for employee termination indemnity 20  (4) 17 1
Deferred tax liabilities 1 1 1
Total non-current liabilities 21  (3) 18 

Current liabilities
Overdrafts and loans from banks and other financial institutions 193 193 
Trade payable 6 6 
Tax liabilities 42 42 
Other current liabilities 51 51 
Total current liabilities 293 0 293 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 314  (3) 311 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 233 0 233 

Adjustments
Gross value Tax impact to net equity NOTES

RECONCILIATION STATEMENT OF PROVISIONAL GOODWILL
AND IFRS NET EQUITY
OF DIGITA Srl at 01/01/2012 after provisiona  PPA 

Description of provisional adjustments

Valuation of Provision for employee termination indemnities 4  (1) 3 1

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS PPA IFRS 4  (1) 3 a

Net equity 01/01/2012 ITA GAAP  (80) b

Net equity IFRS after provisional PPA  (78) c = a+b

Equity investment cost 416 d
Capitalized transaction cost 32 e

Provisional goodwill ex IFRS 3  DIGITA Srl 462 f = d-c-e
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H-Umus SRL - IFRS 3 Provisional Goodwill 
 

 
 
Note 1 = Actuarial valuation of the provision for termination indemnities at 31 December 2012. 
 
It should be noted that the determination of goodwill relating to H-Umus's is provisional.  
  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
H UMUS Srl at 31/12/12
ASSETS 31/12/2012 PPA provisional 31/12/2012 NOTES

adjustments after provisional 
PPA 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19 19 
Intangible assets 59 59 
Deferred tax assets 18 18 2
Total non-current assets 95 0 95 

Current assets
Inventory 0 
Trade receivables 450 450 2
Tax receivables 186 0 186 
Other receivables 17 17 
Cash and bank balances 395 395 
Total current assets 1,048 0 1,048 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,143 0 1,143 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
H UMUS Srl at 31/12/12
NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31/12/2012 PPA provisional 31/12/2012 NOTES

adjustments after provisional 
PPA 

TOTAL EQUITY 516 1 517 

Non-current liabilities
Provision for employee termination indemnity 61  (1) 60 1
Provision for risks and charges 182 182 
Total non-current liabilities 243  (1) 242 

Current liabilities
Trade payables 27 27 
Tax liabilities 208 0 208 
Other current liabilities 149 149 
Total current liabilities 384 0 384 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 627  (1) 626 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,143  (0) 1,143 

Adjustments
Gross value Tax impact to net equity NOTES

RECONCILIATION STATEMENT OF PROVISIONAL GOODWILL
AND IFRS NET EQUITY
DI H UMUS Srl al 31/12/12 POST PPA PROVVISORIA

Description of provisional adjustments

Valuation of Provision for employee termination indemnities 1  (0) 1 1

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS PPA IFRS 1  (0) 1 a

Net equity 01/01/2012 ITA GAAP 516 b

IFRS net equity after provisional  PPA 517 c = a+b

Equity investment cost 4,172 d
Capitalized transaction costs 90 e

Provisional goodwill ex  IFRS 3 -  H UMUS Srl 3,565 f = d-c-e
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Education Team SRL - IFRS 3 Provisional Goodwill 
 

 
 

 

 
 
Note 1 = Actuarial valuation of the provision for termination indemnities at 31 December 2012. 
Note 2 = Writedown of start-up costs. 
Note 3 = Writedown of goodwill in Italian GAAP consolidation. 
 
It should be noted that the goodwill arising on consolidation of Education Team Srl, Paradigma Srl and Optime Srl is also 
provisional.  
 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 EDUCATION TEAM Srl 
ASSETS Paradigma Srl Optime Srl Education Team Srl Investment Consolidation Provisiona PPA Consolidato NOTES

ITA GAAP ITA GAAP ITA GAAP elimination Education Team Srl Adjustments POST PPA provvisoria

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 28 37 37 
Intangible assets 5 16 21  (6) 15 2
Goodwill 5,805 5,805  (5,805)  (0) 3
Equity investment 7,384  (7,384)  (0)  (0)
Deferred tax assets 30 30 2 32 
Total non-current assets 13 74 7,384  (1,579) 5,892  (5,809) 83 

Current assets
Trade receivables 120 109 229 229 
Tax receivables 24 67 0 0 91 91 
Other receivables 82 6 88 88 
Cash and banks balances 2,615 180 10 2,804 2,804 
Total current assets 2,840 362 10 0 3,212 0 3,212 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,854 436 7,394  (1,579) 9,104  (5,809) 3,295 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 EDUCATION TEAM Srl  
NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Paradigma Srl Optime Srl Education Team Srl Investment Consolidation Provisiona PPA Consolidato NOTES

ITA GAAP ITA GAAP ITA GAAP elimination Education Team Srl Adjustments POST PPA provvisoria

TOTAL NET EQUITY 1,452 127 7,394  (1,579) 7,394  (5,798) 1,596 1/2/3/4

Non-current liabilities
Provision for employee termination indemnity 104 13 117  (16) 101 1
Provision for risks and charges 33 33 33 
Deferred tax liabilities 0 4 4 
Total non-current liabilities 104 46 0 0 151  (12) 139 

Current liabilities
Trade payables 644 106 749 749 
Tax liabilities 296 37 0 0 332 332 
Other current liabilities 359 120 479 479 
Total current liabilities 1,298 262 0 0 1,560 0 1,560 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,402 308 0 0 1,710  (12) 1,699 

TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,854 436 7,394  (1,579) 9,104  (5,809) 3,295 

Adjustments
Gross value Tax impact to net equity NOTES

RECONCILIATION STATEMENT OF PROVISIONAL GOODWILL
AND PROVISIONAL IFRS CONSOLIDATED NET EQUITY
OF EDUCATION TEAM Srl 

Description of provisional adjustments

Valuation of Provis ion for employee termination indemnities  -
Optime 14  (4) 10 1
Valuation of Provis ion for employee termination indemnities  -
Paradigma 2  (1) 1 1
Write-off set-up costs -  Optime Srl  (6) 2  (4) 2
Write-off goodwill  (5,805)  (5,805) 3

TOTAL  PROVISIONAL PPA IFRS  ADJUSTMENTS  (5,795)  (3)  (5,798) a

CONSOLIDATED NET EQUITY ITA GAAP 7,394 b

 IFRS net equity after provisional PPA 1,596 c = a+b

Equity investment cost 8,407 d
Capitalized transaction cost 174 e

Provisional goodwill ex IFRS 3 - consolidation of EDUCATION TEAM Srl 6,637 f = d-c-e
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35 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
As also disclosed in the Board of Managers’ Report, the Group is undergoing a process of refinancing in order to 
have, on one hand, greater financial flexibility and, on the other, to be in a better position to support medium-long 
term development projects. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 On behalf of the Board of Managers of  

TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l. 

Luxembourg, 15 April 2013       Managing Director 

 


	TeamSystem Holdco S.à r.l.
	Société à responsabilité limitée
	Consolidated financial statements
	As at and for the year ended 31 December 2012
	Significant events that took place during the financial year


